

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2-26-2024

Supply Chain Risk Management Strategies

Nordia Natacha Stewart Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Walden University

College of Management and Human Potential

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Nordia Stewart

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee
Dr. John Hannon, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Annie Brown, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2024

Abstract

Supply Chain Risk Management Strategies

by

Nordia Whitelocke

 $MS,\,Nova\,\,Southeastern\,\,University,\,2003$

BS, University of the West Indies, 1999

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

March 2024

Abstract

Ineffective supply chain risk management strategies negatively affect company profitability. Supply chain managers are concerned with ineffective risk management strategies, which can erode the company's profitability. Grounded in the structural contingency theory of fit, the purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore strategies oil supply chain managers use to manage supply chain risks effectively. The participants were eight supply chain managers of four companies in the Jamaican oil industry who successfully implemented strategies to manage supply chain risks and improve profitability. Data were collected using semistructured interviews. Through thematic analysis, three themes were identified: (a) adaptability and flexibility to oil price volatility, (b) partnerships and collaboration, and (c) quality assurance. A key recommendation is for supply chain managers to utilize a collective approach to risk management, which incorporates mutually beneficial partnerships among supply chain stakeholders. The implications for positive social change include the potential to empower skilled employees and create jobs for the wider community.

Supply Chain Risk Management Strategies

by

Nordia Whitelocke

MS, Nova Southeastern University, 2003 BS, University of the West Indies, 1999

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

March 2024

Dedication

Completing my doctoral journey would not have been possible without the support and encouragement of my family and friends. I would like to dedicate this academic achievement to my husband Nagel Stewart, for his patience and unwavering support. Thank you for not allowing me to give up and for constantly pushing me towards achieving this goal. I could not have done it without you.

To my friend and inspiration Sharon Malcolm, who passed away before I was able to complete this journey, I dedicate this achievement to you for being my sounding board and motivator through the challenging periods.

Acknowledgments

I want to acknowledge all the faculty members of Walden University who were instrumental in assisting me to achieve my goal. I would like to express gratitude and appreciation to my chair Dr. Hannon for his continuous guidance and support. Without his motivation, accessibility, encouragement, and direction I would not have been successful. I would also like to recognize my second committee member Dr. Annie Brown for providing necessary feedback and guidance. To Dr. Rick Hay, my student advisor, thank you for your support and guidance.

I would also like to acknowledge all my family and friends who supported me throughout this journey.

Table of Contents

List of Tables	iv
Section 1: Foundation of the Study	1
Background of the Problem	1
Problem and Purpose	2
Population and Sampling	3
Nature of the Study	4
Research Question	6
Interview Questions	6
Conceptual Framework	7
Operational Definitions	8
Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations	9
Assumptions	9
Limitations	9
Delimitations	10
Significance of the Study	10
Contribution to Business Practice	10
Implications for Social Change	11
A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature	12
The Supporting Concept	12
Supply Chain Risk Management	15
Collaboration	22

Sourcing
Innovation
Supply Chain Resilience
Transition
Section 2: The Project
Purpose Statement
Role of the Researcher
Participants40
Research Method and Design
Research Method
Research Design
Population and Sampling
Ethical Research
Data Collection Instruments
Data Collection Technique
Data Organization Technique
Data Analysis
Reliability and Validity51
Reliability
Validity
Transition and Summary
Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change54

Introduction	54
Presentation of the Findings	54
Theme 1: Adaptability and Flexibi	lity to Oil Price Volatility55
Theme 2: Partnership and Collabo	ration
Theme 3: Quality Assurance	70
Applications to Professional Practice .	76
Implications for Social Change	79
Recommendations for Action	82
Recommendations for Further Research	ch84
Reflections	85
Conclusion	87
References	88
Appendix: Interview Protocol	

List of Tables

Table 1. Number of Respondents and References Made to Theme 1 Adaptability and	
Flexibility to Oil Price Volatility	58
Table 2. Number of Respondents and References Made to Theme 2 Partnership and	
Collaboration	65
Table 3. Number of Respondents and References Made to Theme 3 Quality Assurance	e.73

Section 1: Foundation of the Study

The increase in the complexity and robustness of the supply chain resulting from globalization gives rise to the growing attention which academicians pay to supply chain risks (Huy & Yoshinori, 2019). The management of risks in the supply chain can determine the success of any business. Ali et al. (2018) highlighted the negative effects of supply chain disruptions on the viability of an organization. In this study, I will identify the supply chain strategies that managers could use to manage risk in the oil supply chains. Managers seek to identify supply chain risks to reduce the impact on the organization's performance (Truong Quang & Hara, 2018). The results of this study could provide guidance to supply chain managers in the oil industry on how to manage the risks in their supply chains.

Background of the Problem

Academicians and practitioners seek to control and mitigate supply chain disruptions because of the impact on companies' profitability (Ho et al., 2015). Supply chain risk management, which encompasses the identification, measurement, and prioritization of supply chain risks to enable the implementation of risk mitigation and control strategies (Aqlan & Lam, 2015), represents an approach to risk mitigation in the supply chain.

Organizational leaders are now incorporating risk management as part of the organizational long-term objectives, as the ability to manage risks is an important component for success in business (Ali & Shukran, 2016). Risk management is an essential aspect of supply chain operations, as disruptions in the supply chain can

negatively impact the company's performance (Ho et al., 2015). Researchers in extant literature, highlighted the need for effective management of risks, which will enhance supply chain resilience, based on the increasing growth of global supply networks, and the complexities of the global environment (Chang et al., 2015).

Critical to risk management in the supply chain is the implementation of the appropriate strategies for the different risks (Manuj et al., 2014). Based on the interrelatedness of supply chain risks, mitigation strategies developed to address particular risks may amplify other risks (Aqlan & Lam, 2015). Further, some supply chain activities may have to be adjusted to reduce the consequences of other supply chain risks (Micheli et al., 2014). Gualandris and Kalchschmidt (2015) pointed out that supply chain managers should seek to establish a state of balance between the observed risks and the selected risk management strategies to effectively utilize a company's available resources and improve financial performance.

Problem and Purpose

Supply chain disruptions can lead to catastrophic operational and economic losses for companies in the supply chain network (Yan & Ji, 2020). Wang et al. (2017) found that Samsung lost an estimated \$17 billion in revenues because of vendor phone battery production defects in 2016. The general business problem is that the lack of effective supply side management negatively effects profitability. The specific business problem is that some oil industry supply chain managers lack strategies to manage supply chain risks effectively.

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore strategies that Jamaican oil industry supply chain managers use to manage supply chain risks effectively. The target population consisted of eight Jamaican supply chain managers working at different oil companies in Jamaica who have managed supply chains effectively. All supply chain managers chosen have successfully implemented risk management strategies for the oil companies they represented in the study. Study implications for positive social change include the potential to improve worker living standards by augmenting employee remuneration from increased profits realized from risk reduction. Additionally, the potential exists for the strengthening of the buying power of customers through the offer of higher quality products at affordable prices.

Population and Sampling

I selected a sample size of eight midlevel and senior level managers from at least 4 oil companies in Jamaica, who have successfully implemented risk management strategies in the oil supply chain. I used purposive sampling to select the participants. Purposive sampling is used to identify participants with the most knowledge on the study topic (Tunarosa & Glynn, 2017). Participants were identified from a list of eligible companies obtained from Jamaican government agency with responsibility for the oil industry. Participants were identified and contacted via email and telephone. Data was collected using the semistructured interview process. Semistructured interviews are an effective way to obtain adequate information on the study topic (Trang, 2022).

Nature of the Study

Researchers employ quantitative and qualitative methods as two primary ways to study phenomena (Park & Park 2016). A mixed methods study is a third approach that has gained increasing focus in recent times (Johnson, 2015). A qualitative approach is appropriate for this study. The qualitative method was selected because the research study goal was to understand and explore strategies that supply chain managers use to manage risks. The qualitative approach is exploratory research, which encapsulates the study of employees in their natural settings (Park & Park, 2016). Using the quantitative method allows researchers to focus on questions with a theoretical basis that seek to characterize variables or explain relationships among variables (Mayer, 2015). The quantitative approach was not appropriate for the study as the purpose of the study was to explore strategies and not to explain relationships between variables. A mixed methods approach integrates the best of the qualitative and quantitative research methods in the same study (Molina-Azorin et al., 2017). The mixed method approach was also not appropriate for the study since the study's purpose did not require using the quantitative method.

A qualitative multiple case study design was used for this supply chain risk management study. An embedded multiple case study was appropriate for this study as the study represented a case of particular interest. The objective of a multiple case study is to gain insight on everyday decisions which supply managers make to manage supply chain risks (Yin, 2018). Case study research is a valuable tool useful for clarifying complexities (Annansingh & Howell, 2016). A case study design is used to investigate

complex social issues from a real-life perspective, by studying people in their natural settings (Yin, 2018). A case study was the preferred design for the study as a case study design excels in gaining in-depth understanding of particular case domain. An in-depth understanding was needed to fulfill the study objective to identify and explore successful risk management strategies that supply chain managers use to effectively manage risk in the Jamaican oil distribution chain.

Other qualitative research designs I considered were phenomenological, grounded theory, and narrative research. Phenomenological researchers focus on exploring the personal meanings of participants' lived experiences (Willis et al., 2016). Phenomenological researchers seek to understand the extent to which humans shape their experiences by self-reflections (Willis et al., 2016). The phenomenological design includes a philosophical feature which emphasizes the use of intuitive experience to gain insights into the personal meanings of participants' experiencing a phenomenon (VanScoy & Evenstad, 2015). The focus of the phenomenological design makes the design inappropriate for this study as the study did not focus on exploring the personal meanings of participants' developing and deploying risk management strategies. Grounded theory researchers use sampling to develop theories for explaining phenomena (Johnson, 2015). A grounded theory design did not apply to this study as the study objective was to explore risk management strategies rather than to generate theories. The narrative qualitative design focuses on individuals' views on their personal lived experiences (Safari & Thilenius, 2013). A narrative design was also not suitable for this study, as the study sought to explore risk management strategies used by supply chain

managers, by studying supply chain managers in their natural setting, rather than sought individually provided personal stories through participants' narratives.

Research Question

What strategies do Jamaican oil supply chain managers use to manage supply chain risks effectively?

Interview Questions

- 1. What are the primary supply chain risks faced by your company?
- 2. Based upon your experiences, what are the drivers of the risks that exist in your company's supply chain?
- 3. Based upon your experiences, how have the risks you described affected your company's operations and performance?
- 4. What strategies do you employ to address these risks?
- 5. What challenges have you encountered in the implementation of the risk mitigation strategies?
- 6. How did your organization address the key challenges to implement the strategies for the mitigation of supply chain risks?
- 7. Based upon your experiences, how do the strategies that you employ mitigate these supply chain risks?
- 8. What additional information, if any, would you like to share on the strategies that you use to mitigate risks in the supply and distribution process of your organization's supply chain?

Conceptual Framework

The basic theory that underpins the conceptual framework for the proposed study is the structural contingency theory of fit. Van de Van and Drazin (1985) formulated the structural contingency theory of fit on the premise that the fit between an organization's structure and its internal and external environments will influence performance.

Anchored by the structural contingency theory first set forth in the 1950s, the relationship between organizational structure and organizational contingencies will determine firm performance level (Morton & Hu, 2008; Sayilar, 2016). Selection, interaction, and systems approaches are key concepts which underlie the contingency theory of fit (Van de Ven & Drazin, 1985). Embedded in contingency theory is the assumption that context, structure, and performance of the organization should be viewed as an interdependent system in the management of the firm (Wagner & Bode, 2008).

Contingency theory considers the effect of internal and external factors such as risks, on firms' performance (Ali & Shukran, 2016). Risks are inherent in supply chains and manifest in various ways especially when there is insufficient information for decision-making, market changes, and the presence of natural disasters (Flynn et al., 2016). The application of contingency theory to explore supply chain risk mitigation strategies is appropriate, as there is no single methodology for risk management in the supply chain (Chang et al., 2015).

The contingency theory of fit is therefore expected to be applicable to the proposed study for identifying and understanding the strategies the participating organization used to mitigate risks and to improve the performance of the supply chain.

Operational Definitions

Global sourcing: The integration and coordination of a network of suppliers across international borders to affect the procurement of goods and services (Wieland et al., 2020).

Global supply chain: The integration of external and internal stakeholders in a global network to enable the coordination of all activities in the production process to obtain operational and financial benefits for all the players in the supply chain (Chu et al., 2020).

Risk management: The identification, monitoring, and mitigation of risks surging from the activities of focal organizations, to ensure a reduction in potential losses and enhanced competitiveness (Prashar & Aggarwal, 2020).

Risk management strategies: The development of an understanding of the triggers that lead to the propagation of risks during the early stages of the risks' presence and the implementation of mechanisms to address the risks to prevent disruption and improve economic gains (Deng et al., 2019).

Supply chain collaboration: The partnership process by which two or more organizations work together, leveraging the knowledge and resources available to achieve a common goal in the supply chain, and strengthen their competitive position (Liao et al., 2017).

Supply chain disruptions: The unplanned and unanticipated occurrences which adversely impact a supply chain by prevent the normal supply of goods and services (Carbonara & Pellegrina, 2018).

Supply chain resilience: The capacity to identify strategies which improve an organization's response to supply chain disruptions, while ensuring quick recovery to the organization's original or improved state (Shekarian & Mellat Parast, 2021).

Supply chain risks: Any threat or fluctuation that may potentially disrupt supply and demand and adversely affect the supply chain (Nooraie et al., 2020).

Supply chain risk management: A response mechanism that supply chain players employ to identify, assess, and manage the uncertainties, which could negatively affect the supply chain (Fan & Stevenson, 2018).

Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

This section provides a discussion on the assumptions, limitations, and delimitations of the study. Assumptions are components of the study which are deemed to be out of the researcher's control (Givens, 2008). Limitations are possible weaknesses of the study that the researcher is unable to control (Yin, 2017). Delimitations are within the researcher's control and used to define the boundaries of the study (Givens, 2008).

Assumptions

Assumptions are facts considered to be true but are not actually verified.

Assumptions carry risk and should be treated as such. A mitigation discussion would be appropriate.

Limitations

Assumptions are an acceptance of something as truth without theoretical proof (Schoenung & Dikova, 2016). One assumption of the study was that the participants selected are the most knowledgeable about effective risk management strategies in the oil

supply chain. Another assumption was that the participants would provide honest and detailed responses to the interview questions. A third assumption was that the company would provide all the relevant documents for review as part of the data collection process.

Delimitations

Delimitations are the boundaries which the researcher establishes to meet the objectives of the study (Theofanidis & Fountouki, 2018). I selected a sample of eight midlevel and senior level managers from multiple oil companies in Jamaica as a study delimitation. Managers with less than 5 years' experience in supply chain management were not. Data were collected from interviews and notes taking to gain an in depth understanding of the strategies used to effectively manage risks and improve profitability in the oil supply chain.

Significance of the Study

The study was significant in three significant ways, (a) value to the business, (b) contribution to the business practice, and (c) implications for social change. Business practitioners may consider the effects that the mismanagement of supply chain risks can have on profitability. Employees and customers within an oil supply chain might perceive the study worthwhile as the efficacy of risk handling strategies affect product quality and the quality of life.

Contribution to Business Practice

Oil industry practitioners might benefit from the findings of this study to improve supply chain operations and overall business performance. Greater distances,

complexities, and disruption possibilities typify supply chain challenges, which underpin the importance of developing and applying appropriate strategies for risk management (Chang et al., 2015). By implementing risk reduction strategies, supply chain managers can reduce supply chain costs, improve the quality of products, reduce the delivery time to customers, and increase profitability. Cost reduction and improvements in product quality and delivery time can strengthen customer loyalty and retention, further enhance the growth of the business, and foster the realization of competitive advantage.

Additionally, organizations can employ the use of knowledge management resources in addressing key stakeholders' needs to improve collaboration, reduce risks, and boost firms' responsiveness to customers' demands and enhance profitability (Cantor et al., 2014). Supply chain managers can use risk management as a mitigation tool and a methodology for creating value for both business and stakeholders (Trkman et al., 2016).

Implications for Social Change

Study implications for social change include improved standard of living for employees and increased buying power for employees and customers, both generated by offering better quality products at more affordable prices. Applying mitigation strategies such as collaborative planning and stringent quality checks can lead to more efficient operations by the improvement of time and quality concerns in the supply chain system (Micheli et al., 2014). Additionally, as supply chains become more profitable through risk mitigation, organizations can effect social change through job creation and economic growth. Successful organizations can enhance social conditions by creating jobs,

engaging in environmentally sustainable activities, and supporting economic growth (Polonsky et al., 2016).

A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

In this review, I will present a composition of articles on supply chain risk management, to support the intent of my study. The purpose of my study was to explore strategies used by supply chain managers to mitigate risks in the Jamaican oil industry. The key search terms used for the purpose of this review included (a) supply chain management, (b) supply chain disruption, (c) supply chain risks, (d) supply chain risk mitigation, (e) risk management strategies, (f) innovation (g) strategic management, (h) organizational performance, and (i) contingency theory. The structure of this review entails, firstly, a discussion on the conceptual framework which is relevant to the management of supply chain risks. A comprehensive discussion on the following categories will follow: (a) supply chain risk management, (b) collaboration, (c), sourcing, (d) innovation, and (e) supply chain resilience. Different sub-headings will highlight the different components of supply chain risk management, with a focus on the relevance to the oil industry, where applicable. In conclusion, I will present a synthesis of the findings from the literature reviewed, highlighting any gap identified in the available information.

The Supporting Concept

My review of the different theories which are relevant to the management of supply chain risks led to the selection of the contingency theory of fit as the conceptual framework which supports the effective management of supply chain risks. The existence of different risk management tools does not assist in the elimination of supply chain risks.

Talluri et al. (2013) posited that researchers could apply the contingency theory to the supply chains to better understand how to use different strategies to mitigate risks and improve performance. The formulation of the contingency theory is on the premise that a firm's performance is dependent on the fit between the firm's structure and the internal and external environment (Van de Van and Drazin, 1985).

As supply chain managers encounter challenges, internally and externally, which could affect the performance of the organization, it is important that the response to said challenges result in positive outcomes. Contingency theorists see organizations as open frameworks which share information through a procedure of input, process, and output (Schoonhoven, 1981). Grötsch et al. (2013) define the inputs as contextual problems which an organization will face externally and internally. The process is the organization's reactions to the internal and external issues and the resulting outcome signifies the output (Grötsch et al., 2013). An integral part of the response is also in the structure of the organization.

Risk mitigation strategies could emerge from the various contingencies that may exist in the supply chain. The contingency theory is relevant in the determination of mitigation strategies within the supply chain, based on the numerous ways to respond to supply chain risks (Trkman & McCormack, 2009). Central to the contingency theory is the premise that managers should consider contextual factors in the determination and the execution of the strategies to attain effectiveness and improved results (Wagner & Bode, 2008). The organization of the business in contingencies will determine the organization's performance level (Morton & Hu, 2008). Varying contingencies,

including environmental contingency factors, such as the industry, and strategic contingency factors, such as the organizational design play a role in the organizational performance (Smith et al., 2019). The environmental complexities and competition are considerations for managers who are seeking to improve the performance of the organization (Williams et al., 2017). Williams et al. (2017) further asserted that internally, managers have to contend with issues of leadership and control as part of the structural challenges, which represent other potential contingencies in the supply chain. As managers consider the different contingencies that are present in the operations, strategic performance management systems, coupled with a differentiation strategy, can be useful in the creation of value and the establishment of organizational control to enhance performance (Siska, 2018).

In conjunction with the underpinnings of the contingency theory, an assessment of the situational factors is essential to the selection of the most suitable risk management strategy ("A contextual approach to supply chain risk mitigation," 2015). Situational factors, which include an understanding of the different internal and external activities which affect an organization, should lead to effective planning and the appropriate response in the mitigation of supply chain risks. In addition to the situational factors, the timeliness of the response is also significant in the determination of the outcome. Scholars have outlined that while the reactive response to managing supply chain risks is ubiquitous among managers, a reactive approach is inadequate to prevent a recurrence of the challenges associated with the risks (Grötsch et al., 2013). It is necessary for

managers to determine whether a proactive or reactive approach is more suitable in the development of risk management strategies.

The relevance of the contingency theory to risk mitigation lies in the viewpoint that there are numerous responses to supply chain risks (Trkman & McCormack, 2019). Talluri et al. (2013) also supported the use of the contingency theory by researchers to better understand the use of risk management strategies to improve the performance of a firm. The sensitivity of supply chains in response to global instability is evident in the supply chain disruptions (Wagner & Bode, 2008). It is therefore crucial for firms to be more vigorous in the approach to manage supply chain risks.

Supply Chain Risk Management

A holistic appreciation for supply chain operations from the supplier to the end customer is important to the management of the supply chain (Olson, 2018). Global supply chain management is the process by which goods and service move from the point of origin to the end user (Tannous & Seongno, 2018). The activities in a supply chain includes sourcing, inventory management, timeliness, and the fit into the organization (Waqas et al., 2019). The objective of the supply chain is to establish alignment between internal and external activities of the chain with the ultimate goal of value creation (Shahbaz et al., 2019).

Inherent in the supply chain process is the presence of risks. There are varying definitions for the concept of risk. The classical decision theory outlines that risk encompasses the possibility of outcomes and their consequential value and impact (March and Shapira, 1987). A supply chain risk is defined as any deviation which occurs

because of supply chain disruptions and adversely impacts normal operations (Chang et al., 2015; Wagner & Bode, 2008). Similarly, Rao and Goldsby (2009) defined supply chain risks as the effect of negative or positive eventualities, and unfavorable consequences which cause the organization to underperform. Supply chain risks refer to the probability of incorrect decisions due to environmental variations and unpredictable activities among supply chain players (Revilla & Saenz, 2017). These variations can have an effect on the most important components of the supply chain network, including supplies and finances (Boonyanusith & Jittamai, 2019; Ssan & Goh, 2017). Supply chain risks are present because of the unpredictability of future events which can occur anytime (Aqlam & Lam, 2016). Unexpected occurrences affect individual companies, and by extension, the entire supply chain (Kauppi et al. 2016), making risk management an important feature of the supply chain (Blome & Schoenherr, 2011). Supply chain risks can result from decisions about suppliers and inventory (Thun & Hoenig, 2011). Other sources of risks include political, economic, and other uncontrollable factors, which are external to the supply chain activities (Peck, 2005). Disruption risks represent a significant share of the supply chain challenges (Kauppi et al., 2016). Supply chain disruptions can have an undesirable effect on the supply chain operations (Chen et al., 2017), causing significant operational and financial losses. The varying definitions of supply chain risks indicate in summary that mismanaged risks could lead to supply chain disruptions. Supply chain disruptions, which result from unplanned events such as natural disasters and economic challenges, interrupt the flow of goods along the supply chain and cause losses to individual firms and the supply chain (Chen et al., 2017). These

disruptions can halt the supply chain processes, increase costs, reduce revenue, and put the organization's competitive advantage at risk (Revilla & Saenz, 2017).

Risk identification is a key element in the effective management of risks (Shahbaz, et al., 2019). The identification of risk sources is fundamental to arming decision makers with the knowledge required for the effective management of the risks (Vilko et al., 2019). There is a direct link between the proper identification, assessment, and prevention of risks, and the success of the supply chain (Shahbaz et al., 2019). Supply chains are susceptible to increased risks and disruptions due to the associated complexities and uncertainties (Park et al., 2016). The ubiquity of risks in the supply chain surges from the increasing competition in the business environment (Waqas et al., 2019). The increase in supply chain risks is congruent with the increase in supply chain complexities (Vilko et al., 2014). As an example, the proliferation of risks and disruptions in supply, can lead to unfavorable outcomes (Friday et al., 2018). Supply chain issues can result in increased costs, which, can negatively impact revenues and market share (Kumar et al., 2018). There are increased challenges and risks in the supply chains due to global expansion and structural changes of firms (Behzadi et al., 2018). The very nature of the supply chain, which has the process of buying at the core, allows for the generation of risks (Chaudhuri et al., 2018). As such, many researchers are seeking to understand and identify the sources of supply chain risks. In the face of globalization, supply chains have become exposed to increased risks and reduced profitability. Researchers have therefore garnered an interest in understanding these supply chain risks and how they can be mitigated (Baryannis et al., 2019).

Risk sources are an integral part of risk management (Rao & Goldsby, 2019). Sources of risks in the supply chain are varied. There can be risks associated with changes in supply and demand, political and environmental factors, as well as unforeseen catastrophes (Rajagopal et al., 2017). Habermann et al. (2015) identified three primary types of supply chain risks, namely supplier risk, internal risk, and customer risk.

Risk management is a focal point for managers and researchers due to the proliferation of complexities and risks in the supply chain (Kauppi et al., 2016). Researchers and practitioners have an increased interest in supply chain risk management based on the presence of vulnerabilities and the adverse effects of disruptions (Gouda & Saranga, 2018). A key component of managing a supply chain is an understanding of the risks as risk is a threat to the performance of supply chains (Brusset & Teller, 2017). In the era of globalization, as businesses continue to grow and expand into other territories, it is necessary for organizations to garner knowledge about the existing risks and how to mitigate them (Shahbaz et al., 2019). Supply chain risk management encompasses the capability to identify, assess, and manage risks in a changing environment to remain competitive and viable (Kilubi & Rogers, 2018; Jüttner & Maklan, 2011). Kilubi (2016a) described supply chain risk management as the process by which strategies are implemented to manage or control threats in the supply chain. The purpose of supply chain risk management is to understand the affect of risks and develop mechanisms to respond to and prevent risks (Er Kara et al., 2020). Supply chain risk management is necessary to reduce the impact of disruption of the supply chain activities (Siagiani et al., 2018).

In the extant literature on supply chain risk management, there is evidence of the proposal of several risk management tools, geared at minimizing supply chain risks (Vanalle et al., 2020). The proper implementation of any risk management tool is essential to ensuring the successful management of risks. It is also important that firms have the required abilities to manage risks. Firms lacking the requisite capabilities cannot implement a consolidation of risk management strategies (Rajesh, 2017). Many managers encounter the challenge of effectively managing risks to reduce losses and increase profits (Luo et al., 2019). The burgeoning complexities of supply chains make it challenging for supply chain managers to manage the supply chain effectively, even with the implementation of a myriad of risk management strategies (Gouda & Saranga, 2018). The mismanagement of supply chain risks can adversely affect the performance of the supply chain (Jafarnejad et al., 2019). Hence, there is a need for effective risk management strategies. Effective risk management is contingent on a complete understanding of the types of risks, the sources, and the triggers for these risks (Boonyanusith & Jittamai, 2019). Organizations, which foster an atmosphere of open communication, collaboration, and innovation, could be more effective at the implementation of risk management strategies.

It is necessary that decisionmakers have complete understanding of their capabilities to support the implementation of various risk management practices. The investment in supply chain risk management is incongruent with the potential benefits although there is acceptance of the positive correlation between supply chain risk

management and improved competitiveness, sustainability, and resilience (Hernandez & Haddud, 2018).

Contrary to the extant literature, there is no systematic use of the management tools to address supply chain risks in some supply chain (Vanalle et al, 2020). The management of risks may require modification to the supply chain and the reallocation of resources, which can further exacerbate the magnitude of any disruption (Christopher & Holweg, 2017). Supply chain risk management strategies are either proactive or reactive. The response to vulnerabilities in the supply chain, as part of the risk management strategy, can be proactive or reactive (Abeysekara et al., 2019). Managers typically used a reactive approach to risk management until recently, when there is a thrust towards a proactive approach (Colicchia & Strozzi, 2012). Some researchers believe that there is more value in a proactive approach. A proactive approach to risk management entails the identification and understanding of the risks (Govindan & Chandhurri, 2016), to prevent disruptions. Firms which can effectively predict and prevent supply chain risks are better able to minimize losses (Baryannis et al., 2019).

Some of the risk management strategies used in the supply chain surround a focus on sourcing, inventory management, contracting, and collaboration (Ghadge et al., 2017). It is important for firms to understand the strategies available for risk management and how to effectively use those strategies to improve performance (Kauppi et al., 2016). The success of the strategies employed depends on the stability and flexibility of the organization. Supply chains which are established, and exhibit stability are in a better position to effectively manage supply chain risks (Rajesh, 2017). Similarly, the flexibility

of an organization will determine the effectiveness of the strategies used risk management (Aqlan & Lam, 2016). Supply chain risk management also encapsulates the management of a range of other possible risk areas such as logistics risks, sourcing risks, and production risks (Govindan & Chandhuri, 2016).

Resilient supply chains are better able to withstand the effects of supply chain disruptions. Supply chains are susceptible to disruptions, based on their natural exposure to varying risks including cost and quality issues (Jafarnejad et al., 2019). Exposure to disruptions can be beneficial in allowing firms to gain the necessary knowledge to improve their capabilities to respond to any future occurrence (Revilla & Saenz, 2017). Resilience in the supply chain is therefore a necessary goal. Due to the growth of global supply systems, there is an urgent need for the strengthening of supply chains to make them resilient with the capacity to have expeditious return to normalcy in the face of disruptions (Chang et al., 2015). A successful supply chain is resilient and has the capacity to effectively manage external and internal challenges (Abeysekara et al., 2019).

The internal and external environment is also important in the context of supply chain risk management. Firms will strengthen their internal structures, while simultaneously garnering information on the external environment, in response to the observed risks (Kauppi et al., 2016). Notwithstanding the gathering of information on the external environment, Taylor and Vachon (2018) found that there was less focus on the performance of companies in relation to environmental and social concerns. Companies typically consider environmental and social concerns reactively, based on a push from stakeholders (Rajesh, 2019). Stakeholders have taken a heightened interest in demanding

sustainable products from companies (Gualandris et al., 2015). Companies can achieve sustainable competitive advantage if consideration is given to the environmental and social contexts of supply chains (Rajesh, 2019).

Collaboration

Collaboration is one strategy which is critical to combat risks in the supply chain. In the age of globalization, the establishment of alliances is an important risk aversion tactic (Milovanovic et al., 2017). Traditionally, the activities internal to the organization were the primary focus of risk management strategies, but trending today, supply chain partners are extending their efforts to include collaboration with key stakeholders (Revilla & Saenz, 2017). Ho et al. (2015) highlighted the role of collaboration in the supply chain, by defining supply chain risk management as a collaborative effort for all organizations in the chain.

Collaboration is an important element in the mitigation of supply chain risks and also in the improvement in profitability (Hernandez & Haddud, 2018). Tang (2006) encouraged the use of a collaboration as a mitigating mechanism in line with the proactive approach. The management of risks at the supply chain level stems from the realization that companies are facing a lot of risks associated with their supply chain partners (Yen & Zeng, 2017). Hence, there is a thrust to have a coordinated collaborative approach to risk management across companies in the supply chain. In the supply chain, collaboration is useful for planning and forecasting purposes and increases the opportunities to reduce supply chain vulnerabilities (Rajesh, 2017). The approach to developing collaboration can be vertical, with customers, suppliers, and internal interests,

or horizontal, with competitors and noncompetitors (Abesekara et al., 2019). Current literature outlined the need for and benefits of supply chain relationships (Mocke et al., 2016). Supply chain players may not have proper visibility of the risks they encounter, due to the decentralization and sharing of the risk management responsibilities (Vilko et al., 2019). It is therefore necessary that the supply chain players leverage the relationships which exist and engage in collaboration to manage the risks. Strong relationships between suppliers and buyers are necessary for the successful management of supply chain risks (Wandfluh et al., 2016). Getele et al. (2019) found that alliances with government agencies and interagency partnerships within the supply chain network had a positive effect on risk mitigation.

Collaboration enhances supply chain performance (Wu et al., 2014) and can improve response time. Through information and knowledge sharing, supply chain managers can learn to better manage risk and improve the sustainability of their organizations and the entire supply chain. Information and knowledge sharing, inter and intra organizational alignment are essential to effective collaboration (de Almeida et al., 2017). External collaboration can enhance the sharing of information about risks to increase the risk management capabilities. (Kauppi et al., 2016). The sharing of information would increase knowledge about risks among the supply chain partners and assist with the development of appropriate management strategies (Waqas et al., 2019). The effective management of risks in supply chain requires a coordinated approach. Risk sharing and information sharing are key aspects of collaboration in the supply chain (Li et al., 2015). Stakeholders could increase their knowledge of uncertainties and

vulnerabilities in the supply chain through risk information sharing, which would enable the awareness of the appropriate mitigation actions to take against risks and disruptions (Friday et al., 2018). Companies should utilize the collaborative mechanism to leverage the strong ties that exist in the supply chain to improve the sharing of information for the benefit of the entire supply chain (Chen et al., 2017). The exchange of information, skills, and experiences, and collaborating on decisions and tasks execution can improve response time (Jafarnejad et al., 2019). Supply chain integration will increase the efficacy of supply chain risk management (Kauppi et al., 2016; Li et al., 2015), through the fostering of information sharing. Engaging in alliances will help to foster knowledge sharing and ultimately lead to improved performance (Chaudhuri et al., 2018).

Trust and commitment will enhance the effectiveness of collaboration, which can have a positive impact on an organization's competitive advantage (Kamalahmadi & Parast, 2016a). Li et al. (2015) asserted that relationship, trust, and knowledge sharing are beneficial to a company's financial growth. Similarly, commitment is a critical underpinning of a collaborative relationship (Govindan & Chandhuri, 2016).

Transparency in the supply chain will build trust among partners and improve the resilience of the supply chain (Rajesh, 2017).

A collaborative approach to monitor the internal and external environments, and collectively determine the need for intervention, can result in risk reductions which benefit the entire supply chain (Ali & Shukran, 2016). De Almeida et al. (2017) highlighted the importance of internal and external collaboration to stabilize demand in the supply chain. Collaboration between internal and external stakeholders is a catalyst to

value creation and customer satisfaction (Thiruvattal, 2017). Risk management strategies can be effective with the coordinated efforts of all supply chain partners and decisionmakers (Ali & Shukran, 2016). Firms should be cognizant of the positive impact of collaboration internally and externally, in creating value and improving performance (Tannous & Seongno, 2018).

There is also the need for communication (Cho et al., 2017) to improve the effectiveness of collaboration. Collaboration between suppliers and buyers can enhance the effective management of supply chain risks (Breuer et al., 2013) through frequent communication. Communication between buyers and suppliers is a valuable component to supply chain risk management (Uys et al., 2019). Similarly, the involvement of decisionmakers in the supply chain risk management process can result in tremendous benefits (Ingley & Walt, 2008). Inter and intra organizational communication networks are important aspects of supply chain management (Siagian et al., 2018). Inter and intra organizational collaboration will help to foster greater communication internally, and externally thereby enhancing performance (Caniato, et al., 2016).

Companies can gain synergies from the relationships established in the supply chain, to have a holistic positive impact on the organization. The organization as well as the entire supply chain would benefit from the application of a holistic risk management strategy (Vilko et al., 2019). The development of strategic interorganizational relationships gives credence to the value of using collaboration as a risk management strategy (Friday et al., 2018). Revilla and Saenz (2017) recommended the use of collaborative risk management to strengthen interorganizational relationships and

improve the assessment and management of supply chain risks. Through collaborative risk management, the opportunity is created for the application of risk management on a global level, with input from all the stakeholders (Friday et al., 2018). Additionally, it is essential for supply chain managers to pursue collaboration with other supply chain partners to create supply chain resilience and the resultant benefits for customers and suppliers (Blessley & Mudambi, 2022).

Decision makers should also consider the benefits of collaboration in their sourcing decisions by incorporating trust and commitment. The development of strategic long-term relationships with suppliers and service providers will be beneficial to the performance of the supply chain (Govindan & Chandhuri, 2016). The success of long-term relationships with suppliers globally depends on the level of trust and commitment. Trust and commitment are key factors in the success of collaboration with foreign suppliers. (Manoj & Urvashi, 2017). Collaboration between suppliers and buyers, that is characterized by trust and commitment, is effective against supply disruptions and can aid the suppliers in the acceleration of their recovery in the event of a disruption (Namdar et al., 2018).

The use of collaboration to address supply and demand risks can be valuable to the supply chain (Chen et al., 2013). Some researchers asserted that while collaboration leads to considerable benefits, there is also increased exposure to some risks (Shahbaz et al., 2019). The lack of cooperation of some supply partners could present a grave challenge to the supply chain (Basole et al., 2016) as supply risks become prevalent. Increased dependence on supply chain partners will augment the risk exposure and

effects in the supply chain (Revilla & Saenz, 2017). Ghadge et al. (2017) recommended the use of a supply chain contract to hold suppliers accountable and to guarantee benefits from improved performance in the supply chain. The purpose of the supply chain contract is to facilitate the sharing of the risks associated with price and demand uncertainties, as well as other unknown risks (Ghadge et al., 2017).

The implementation of standardized management systems can strengthen collaboration. Zimon and Madzik, (2020) found the implementation of standardized management systems as a useful strategy in supply chain risk management. Standardized management systems promote collaboration and process integration in the supply chain, leading to improved performance (Zimon & Madzik, 2020). The absence of collaboration can render the risk management efforts ineffective (Revilla & Saenz, 2017). According to Tannous and Seongno (2018), collaboration is one of the pillars on which companies should develop global supply chain management to minimize supply chain risks. Supply chain managers rely on close collaboration among stakeholders to enhance performance (Li et al., 2015). Successful firms leverage the partnerships which exist to effectively manage supply chain risks (Kilubi & Rogers, 2018). The lack of synergy among supply chain partners is a factor which impacts the effective management of supply chain risks (Meyer et al., 2019). Collaboration requires deliberate actions in the supply chain. Partners should be unified in purpose and objective for the success of the relationship (Spence et al., 2018). Firms will benefit economically from the unification among supply chain partners, which enhances competitive advantage (Zhu et al., 2017). Supply chain partners should facilitate a joint understanding of the supply chain susceptibilities to

develop a coordinated approach which will improve the outcome of risk exposure (Revilla & Saenz, 2017). The benefits of collaboration outline in the literature indicate that it is imperative that supply chain partners leverage the collaborative opportunities to develop viable risk management strategies.

Sourcing

Sourcing is now becoming a strategic tactic used to manage supply risks (Kumar et al., 2018). Sourcing strategies are important to the performance of the supply chain. The successful performance of a supply chain is contingent on the selection of the right suppliers (Namdar et al., 2018). There are various sourcing options which are available to purchasers in the supply chain. Sourcing options include the use of a single sourcing, multiple sourcing (Namdar et al., 2018), or dual sourcing (Kumar et al., 2018). According to Namdar et al. (2018), single supplier sourcing is the preferred option for some companies as it is deemed secure and controlled. Whether a company decides on a single supplier or multiple suppliers, the decision to purchase locally or globally is also important.

Global sourcing is a favorable strategy to practitioners because of the potential cost, labor, and governmental support which organizations derive from using this approach (Hernandez & Haddud, 2018). Through global sourcing, organizations can benefit from innovation and labor force expertise (Capolupo et al., 2017). Global sourcing can also result in increased risks. Cultural differences and lack of control over organizations in other jurisdictions can trigger risks (El Fadil & St-Pierre, 2016) which are more costly than any potential benefit (Hernandez & Haddud, 2018). Notwithstanding

the possible shortcomings of global sourcing, Rogers and Rodrigo (2015) found that organizations can benefit from the availability of skilled labor and a reduction in operational cost.

To address sourcing risks, some researchers proposed the use of routine sourcing and contingent sourcing as mitigation strategies (Freeman et al., 2018). Routine sourcing encompasses the use of a supply base of multiple suppliers for the purchase of specific goods (Freeman et al., 2018). The use of a backup supplier as well as simultaneous purchase and production of some items, in the event of disruptions is considered contingent sourcing (contingent rerouting) (Snyder, et al., 2016). Merzifonluoglu (2017) asserted that the use of backup suppliers enhances the company's response to unforeseen supply interruptions.

The strategies used to determine the purchase of goods and services will help to influence the organization's viability (Merzifonluoglu, 2015). Although supplier reliability and resilience are two key requirements for the success of retailers (Kumar, et al., 2018), in some cases, cost played a greater role than reliability in the selection of suppliers (Snyder et al., 2016).

Suppliers are integral to the successful performance of the supply chain.

Suppliers who are fallible can cause instability along the supply chain and therefore requires careful selection and monitoring (Pertheban & Arokiasamy, 2019). The impact of supply issues can be far-reaching, resulting in quality and reliability issues and general upheaval in the supply chain (Waqas et al., 2019). It is imperative that firms implement the sourcing strategies which will ensure the availability of supplies in the event of a

disruption (Namdar et al., 2018). Sourcing selection can increase the organization's exposure to greater disruption risks (Namdar et al., 2018).

Innovation

Managers could use innovation as an appropriate response to supply chain disruptions. As complexities pervade the global economy, organizations focus on innovation as a competitive strategy (Afraz et al., 2021). Consequently, firms can leverage innovation as a strategy to improve their supply chains (Seuring & Miller, 2008). Innovation is an important strategy in ensuring sustainability and growth in organizations (Ni et al., 2021). As businesses encounter uncertainties, instabilities, and increased competition, it is important that they develop new operational strategies (Afraz et al., 2021). Innovation is becoming a major driver of change in the supply chain as organizations become more sophisticated in the operations and business strategies (Hopkins, 2021).

A company can use innovation in varying forms to address product or process risks. Supply chain innovation can be characterized into two dimensions: product innovation and process innovation (Lee & Schmidt, 2017). The key activities of supply chain innovation include logistics oriented, marketing oriented, and technological development-oriented activities (Wong & Ngai, 2019), all focused on product and process improvements. Supply chain innovation boosts process and operational improvements and strengthens the risk management capabilities in the organization by enabling the development of novel ways to manage supply chain activities (Afraz et al., 2021) and the quality of products. Innovation quantity and innovation quality influences

value creation and competitiveness in the supply chain (Yu et al., 2019). Wadho and Chaudhry (2018) asserted that it is necessary for organizations to incorporate innovation as part of the strategy to create efficiencies and drive customer satisfaction. In deciding on the use of innovation as a measure against supply chain disruptions, managers should give consideration to the use of the most applicable form of innovation (Kach et al., 2016).

The innovative capability of an organization exists primarily in its external network, driving the need for collaboration (Krishnan et al., 2021). Innovation requires a collaborative effort of stakeholders within and outside of the supply chain. Haus-Reve et al. (2019) found that innovation existed predominantly among firms, which collaborate with other supply chain stakeholders. The sharing of information, risks, benefits, and decision-making roles, create the platform for progressive innovation (Nguyen et al., 2019). In a multiproduct supply chain network, supply chain stakeholders benefit from the use of shared skills and resources through collaborative innovation (Wang & Hu, 2020). The distribution of information and knowledge throughout the supply chain network may promote innovation and stimulate the development of innovative products.

Some organizations are employing the extensive use of data in supply chain risk management (Er Kara et al., 2020). Data management strategies can be used in any risk management approach being employed, whether proactive or reactive (Lee et al., 2017). Technological developments underlie the drive for supply chain managers to use data driven techniques in managing supply chain risks (Er Kara et al., 2020). More research is required on the use of data management-based framework for supply chain risk

management. Although supply chain innovation has an operational focus and provide incremental business model improvements, large companies can use supply chain innovation to generate complementary business models for their existing methods (Abdelkafi & Pero, 2018). Hahn (2020) found that established companies integrate digital technology in their current business architecture. An emerging approach in the supply chain is that organizations are taking a holistic rather than an individualistic interest in innovation to counteract the intense global competition (Song et al., 2021). The upsurge of new technologies and valuable digital tools promote the joint use of innovation among organizations to better manage their operations (Ge et al., 2021).

Supply chain managers should use emerging technologies to enhance their leadership capabilities (Liu et al., 2021). The implementation of successful innovation depends on the ability of the organization to identify and remove barriers which may hinder the correct combination of the requisite finances, skills, and collaborative relationships (Gupta et al., 2020). Similarly, the effectiveness of innovation depends largely on the ability of the organization to ensure continuity in the development of innovative activities (Ferreira & Moreira, 2020). Innovation is integral to the achievement of competitive advantage (Teece, 2018). Additionally, innovative solutions foster dynamism and improvements in supply chain management (Aviggiolo & Ughetto, 2019) and the innovative capability of an organization is an enabler for customer satisfaction (Afraz et al., 2021).

Supply Chain Resilience

Practitioners deem supply chain resilience as an important capability in the management of risks and disruptions (Al-Hakimi, et al., 2021). The inevitability and unpredictability of supply chain disruption highlights the need for supply chains to be responsive to a dynamic environment (Li & Zobel, 2020). Supply chain resilience, characterized by the effective success and risk mitigation capabilities, is essential to the management of unforeseeable supply chain disruptions (Um & Han, 2021). Resilience encapsulates the response, recovery, and resistance to a disruption (Li et al., 2020). Resilience is the ability of a firm to survive disruptions by surviving the consequences without affecting its original state (Agigi et al., 2018). Andrews (2019) characterized resilience as the presence of strength and flexibility which allows for resistance to disruptions. It is important that supply chains attain resilience to withstand disruptions and mitigate risks. Resilient supply chains would be better able to withstand supply chain disruptions and gain sustainable competitive advantage (Getele et al., 2019; Rajesh, 2019). Bogataj et al. (2016) found that supply chains can remain resilient in the presence of disruptions if, they have reserved liquidity, invest in insurance, and establish lines of credit for use in the period of disruption. Supply chain managers have the task of ensuring that they have the requisite resources to return the supply chain to normalcy in the event of disruptions (Bogataj et al., 2016). Brusset and Teller (2017) posited that supply chain managers are responsible for the decisions, tools, and processes necessary for the achievement of supply chain resilience. Changes in the business environment may lead to disruptions, which threaten the stability of supply chains, and create exposure to

risks and uncertainties (Al-Hakimi et al., 2021). The role of supply chain resilience in the mitigation of supply chain risks has emerged as a significant area of interest for researchers and supply chain managers (Mena, Melnyk, Baghersad, & Zobel, 2020).

Supply chain resilience is a multidimensional concept including proactive capability, reactive capability, and network design quality (Chowdhury & Quaddus, 2017). According to Alikhani et al. (2021), proactive resilience capabilities involve the use of an identification and response mechanism for risk impact before it happens. Reactive resilience includes an organizations' ability to recover from the impact of the risk and return to normalcy. Network design resilience is related to node density in a specific area. Human capital plays a strategic role in the management of the supply chain (Bals et al., 2019) and the determination of the achievement of any or all dimensions of supply chain resilience. Nikookar and Yanadori (2021) found that the relationships between supply chain managers and their counterparts are critical to the visibility, responsiveness, and flexibility of the supply chain, important antecedents of supply chain resilience. Resilient supply chains should explore various types of resilience capabilities to benefit from the embedded synergies (Adobar & McMullen, 2018).

The ubiquity of supply chain disruptions due to natural disasters, trade wars, and pandemics, makes supply chain resilience a topic interest to practitioners and academicians (Blessley & Mudambi, 2022). Scholars and practitioners have increased their focus on supply chain resilience due to the recent supply chain collapses, triggered by the COVID-19 pandemic (Moosavi & Hosseini, 2021). During the pandemic, supply chains became vulnerable due to delivery delays, suppliers' inability to fulfill demand,

plants closure, and unpredictable customer demands (Ivanov, 2020). The COVID-19 pandemic exposed the vulnerabilities of supply chains and created significant challenges for suppliers to meet demands and other obligations (Spieske & Birkel, 2021). The catastrophic effects of the Covid-19 pandemic on supply chains far outweighs the effects of other disruptions such as natural disasters in other countries (Moosavi & Hosseini, 2021). Nikookar and Yanadori (2021) posited that the COVID-19 pandemic augmented the uncertainties and complexities of the supply chains, causing unprecedented levels of disruptions and further eroded revenues for a lot of firms.

Companies can use technology to build resilience and strengthen their competitiveness. With the requisite technological capabilities, companies can build resilience and create a culture to support their longevity (Rajesh, 2017). Gu et al. (2021) found that the use of information technology (IT) in the supply chain can build customer and supplier resilience and by extension improve the performance of the supply chain. The implementation of IT capabilities will enhance a collaborative effort in the management of supply chain disruptions, as such capabilities foster the development of novel and immediate solutions.

Implementation costs is a factor which impacts the effective management of supply chain risks (Meyer et al., 2019) and the attainment of resilience Supply chain managers may have to consider the limitations of a budget in making decisions which are in alignment with building resilience in the supply chain (Li & Zobel, 2020). The implementation cost of resilience strategies and the potential efficacy can make strategy selection a complex process (Alikhani et al., 2021). Additionally, time required for a

supply chain to return to normalcy after a disruption, or time to recovery is an important element in the consideration of resilience (Behzadi & Olsen, 2020).

The main objective of supply chain resilience is to ensure speedy recovery from disruptions (Spieske & Birkel, 2021) and ensure business continuity. Business continuity has a mitigating influence on supply chain disruptions on the operations of the supply chain and enhances supply chain resilience (Riglietti et al., 2021). Notably, companies compete not only on product offerings but also on their ability to be responsive to supply chain risks and reduce costs through the efficient management of the supply chain (Siagiani et al., 2018). Building resilience can also lead to the creation of new business opportunities and favorable outcomes for market development for all supply chain stakeholders (Nenonen & Storbacka, 2020).

Transition

The aim of section one was to provide information on the strategies used by companies to manage risks in the supply chain. Although the findings presented were not directly related to the oil industry supply chain, the principles posited are also applicable to the oil industry. Included in Section 1 was also a discussion on the general problem of the effects of the lack of effective supply side management on profitability and specifically the lack of risk management strategies in the oil supply chain. A discussion on the background, nature, and significance of the study was also contained in this section. Additionally, an outline of important definitions, assumptions, limitations, and delimitations was included in this section.

Section 2 encapsulates an explication of the research method and the research design. The choice of a qualitative multiple case study to explore strategies that oil industry supply chain managers use is supported and justification offered for not using the other available research methods and designs. Additionally, Section 2 provides an outline of the population and sampling description as well as data collection technique and analysis. The presentation of the findings of the study will comprise section three.

Section 2: The Project

Section 2 adds a description of my role as researcher in the data collection process as well as an outline of any relationship I may have had with the topic. A description of the process of obtaining participants for the study is included. Section 2 also includes an in-depth discussion on the research method and research design and a detailed description of the population and sampling process. The conclusion of section 2 includes how I used the data collection protocol, enhanced the validity and reliability of the data collection process, and a presentation of the data analysis.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore the strategies that supply chain managers might use to manage risks in the supply chain effectively. The target population consisted of supply chain managers in oil companies in Jamaica, who manage supply chains risks effectively. The study entailed the use of semistructured interviews conducted with a sample of eight supply chain managers in four selected oil companies who have successfully implemented risk management strategies. Study implications for positive social change include the potential to improve worker living standards by augmenting employee remuneration from increased profits realized from risk reduction, and to strengthen the buying power of customers by being able to offer higher quality products at affordable prices.

Role of the Researcher

In this qualitative multiple case study, I sought to identify the strategies that Jamaican oil supply chain managers use to manage supply chain risks effectively. A qualitative researcher has a responsibility to become conversant with the different elements of the research process. Qualitative researchers should be knowledgeable about the research methods, context, subject, and environment, to master the research complexities (De Souza Bispo, 2017). The researcher will be the instrument of data collection, interpretation, and analysis for this research. According to Graue (2015), the researcher has meaningful involvement in conducting a qualitative research study. Qualitative researchers should outline any bias or assumptions (Greenbank, 2003), which could surge from career influences as well as from any exposure to potential participants in the research. My career in the oil industry allowed for familiarity with the topic of interest as well as limited interaction with some of the potential participants. As such, I guarded against any influence on the responses garnered, by separating personal feelings and experiences when interpreting and analyzing the data. Additionally, the interview process did not include the offering of advice, to avoid leading of the participants. I facilitated a level of openness which led to the gleaning of as much information as was available. Deady (2011) posited the importance of a researcher's openness to unpredictable and un-coerced information.

I adhered to the standards and guidelines outlined in the Belmont Report. As outlined in The Belmont Report, respect for others, beneficence and justice are essential requirements for research involving people (Metcalf, 2016). An ethical approach guided all interactions with study participants.

The data collection method entailed face-to-face, semistructured interviews with senior supervisors and managers from multiple companies in the Jamaican oil industry, conducted at locations chosen by the participants. I informed participants that I would be taking notes and audio-taping the discussions. An interview protocol guided the interview process. The interview protocol allows the researcher to garner relevant information from all participants to address the research question (Köhler, 2016).

Participants

For this study, I selected the participants using the purposive sampling method. Qualitative research encompasses the use of purposive sampling of participants who will provide the most information to address the research question (Guarte & Barrios, 2006). The eligibility criteria for participants in this study was midlevel and senior supervisors and managers in an oil company in Jamaica with sustained profitability. An important characteristic of the participants was their experience in the successful implementation of risk management strategies in the organization's supply chain.

To identify participants, a list of eligible companies was obtained from the Jamaican government agency, which has oversight of the oil industry and interacts closely with the managers working with the Jamaican oil companies. After obtaining approval from IRB, I contacted participants by email and telephone to gain access to the senior supervisors and managers of the identified oil companies. Emails and telephone calls are useful study techniques to contact potential participants for research studies (Mikene et al., 2013).

I further engaged eligible participants in discussions through telephone calls after their consent to participate, to establish a working relationship and emphasized the value which they will add to the research. Communication with selected participants and an emphasis on the significance of their input to the study is essential to a scholarly research study (Maramwidze-Merrison, 2016).

Research Method and Design

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore the strategies used by the supply chain managers to manage risks in the Jamaican oil supply chain. A qualitative method was the most appropriate research methodology for my research effort. I used a multiple case study design for this study to solicit answers to the study research question.

Research Method

Researchers typically use three research methods. The two traditional ways employed by researchers to study phenomena are quantitative and qualitative methods (Park & Park 2016). As of late there has been increasing focus on the use of a third approach, namely, mixed methods (Johnson, 2015). A qualitative approach was selected for the proposed study. Park and Park (2016) pointed out that qualitative is appropriate when researchers seek to understand and explore phenomena by studying things or people in their natural settings, and Mayer (2015) added the appropriateness of the qualitative method use of open-ended questions. Mayer also pointed out that unlike qualitative researchers, quantitative researchers focus on closed-ended questions with a theoretical basis and seek to explain relationships between variables through hypotheses testing. The mixed methods approach, which requires knowledge of the qualitative and quantitative methodologies, characterizes a combination of both research methods in the same study (McKim, 2017). The quantitative method and the mixed method were not

appropriate for my study, as both examine a research phenomenon, and I sought to explore the strategies used by Jamaican supply chain managers to manage risks effectively and increase profitability.

Research Design

As the main objective of the study was to explore the strategies Jamaican oil supply chain managers use to manage risk and improve profitability, I used a case study design to glean answers to the research question. Other research designs which could apply to a qualitative research exploration include phenomenological, grounded theory, narrative, and ethnographic research.

Phenomenological researchers focus on lived experiences of individuals and the view that humans shape their experiences by their self-reflections (Willis et al., 2016). The phenomenological design includes a philosophical feature which uses the intuitive experience of phenomena to gain insights into the lived experiences of individuals (VanScoy & Evenstad, 2015). The subjectivity of the phenomenological design which has an objective basis and is not dependent on the lived experiences of the participants, made it inappropriate for this study.

Grounded theory considers the use of theoretical sampling and relies on the ability of researchers for the interpretation of the collected data and applicable theories (Johnson, 2015). A grounded theory design was not applicable to this study as the objective was not to generate theories.

A narrative design focuses on an individual's view on their lived experiences and differs from the phenomenological approach in that the latter focuses on the

phenomenon. According to Safari and Thilenius (2013), the narrative design considers the narratives or insights provided by individuals about the phenomenon. The narrative design was also not suitable for my research effort, as the study sought to explore risk mitigation strategies used by supply chain managers, not to explain supply chain managers lived experiences.

Ethnographies entail the observation of participants (Ferreira et al., 2017), which makes the ethnographic design inappropriate for this proposed study. An ethnographic researcher typically spends extended periods conducting fieldwork, which encompasses extensive observations and detailed interviews (Yin, 2018).

I used a case study design for the research effort on supply chain risk management strategies. Case study research is a valuable tool which is useful in clarifying complexities and allows the researcher to make use of the experience of other individuals (Annansingh & Howell, 2016). Researchers use the case study design to investigate complex social issues from a real-life perspective by studying individuals in their natural setting (Yin, 2014). The researcher must fulfil the requirement of answering the research question in using a case study approach (Dresch et al., 2015). A case study was the preferred design for my study as the case study design specializes in gaining an in-depth knowledge and the study sought to understand strategies that successful Jamaican oil supply chain managers use to mitigate operating risk.

Population and Sampling

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore the strategies used by supply chain managers to manage risks and increase profitability in the Jamaican

oil supply chain. I used purposive sampling to select the participants based on years of experience in supply chain operations and their role in successfully implementing risk management strategies in the oil supply chain. Researchers use purposive sampling to achieve information richness from the deliberate selection of participants within the population with the required knowledge on the topic of interest (Guarte & Barrios, 2006). Participants in a purposive sample have more knowledge about the subject matter (Tunarosa & Glynn, 2017). The aim of purposive sampling is to identify participants who best represent the population (Yuan Ling Marjorie et al., 2021). Additionally, in purposive sampling, the researcher ensures that the participants meet the requisite criteria to address the issue being studied (de Guzman et al., 2020).

I selected a sample size of eight midlevel and senior level managers from 8 oil companies in Jamaica who have been involved in the successful implementation of risk management strategies in the oil supply chain. Data were collected from the selected participants using the semistructured interview process. The determination of sample size should not be disproportionately prominent and degrade the other aspects of the data collection and analysis process (Sim et al., 2018). The research problem, the purpose of the research, and the subjects of the research are key determinants of the sample size (Blaikie, 2018). Hennink and Kaiser (2022) found that small sample sizes are effective in reaching data saturation in qualitative research.

Data saturation is the point in data collection when data becomes repetitive as no new relevant information is garnered and an adequate sample size is achieved (Hennink & Kaiser, 2022). Data saturation is also a conceptual determinant of sample sizes in

qualitative research (Guest et al., 2020). In qualitative research sampling is not required beyond the point of data saturation (Moser & Korstjens, 2018). To achieve data saturation, I used member checking as an iterative process after completing the interviews. Member checking allows the participants to verify the accuracy of my interpretation of the data (Naidu & Prose, 2018).

Ethical Research

I obtained approval from the IRB before conducting the study. The guidelines of the Belmont Report highlight respect for others, beneficence, and justice as critical elements for conducting research, which involves people (Metcalf, 2016). It is fundamental to obtain ethical approval prior to conducting research which requires the participation of people (Fleming & Zegwaard, 2018). All guidelines outlined in the Belmont Report were followed. Researchers have a professional responsibility of ensuring that an enhanced ethical strategy is utilized, as part of their duty and commitment to the participants (Rabu et al., 2022). The researcher should also seek to protect the confidentiality of the participants as part of the execution of ethical practices (Edwards, 2017).

After obtaining approval from the IRB, I contacted the participants electronically and via telephone to obtain the consent for their participation in the study. I scheduled and conducted the interviews after receiving consent from the participants. Informed consent is a necessary ethical instrument that ensures that participants are given adequate information about the details of the study and any potential impact to them, as a prerequisite to participation (Newman et al., 2021). The electronic invitations to the

participants, included an outline of the details of the study, the purpose and nature of the study, their role as participants, how the study will benefit them, as well as my contact details to facilitate the clarification of any questions they may have. Researchers have an obligation of fulfilling their duty to the participants by guaranteeing the use of inform consent and outlining the benefits of the study (Herington & Tanona, 2020). The inform consent process will help the individual to agree to participate without coercion (Chatterjee & Das, 2021). I advised the participants that participation in the study was voluntary, and they were free to withdraw from the study at any time without consequences.

I scheduled face to face interviews after receiving the signed inform consent form from the participants as an indication of their willingness to voluntarily participate in the study. The participants decided on the locations for the face to face interviews. I informed the participants that all the information collected will be stored in a secured location for 5 years, and that after 5 years, I will destroy all information collected.

Data Collection Instruments

Interviews are the primary source of data collection in qualitative research (Fornaro et al., 2021). In a qualitative study the researcher is the primary data collection instrument (Yin, 2018). As the researcher for this study, I was the primary data collection instrument. I conduct semistructured interviews face to face to gather information in response to the research question. Valuable information emerged from conducting interviews with individuals in the organization with perspectives that helped to address the research question (Hamilton & Finley, 2020). Semistructured interviews help the

participants provide adequate information about their insights on the study topic (Trang, 2022). Semistructured interviews are an effective way to address the research question (Midgley & Wilby, 2015). Interviews help the researcher to define the main themes of the study and to interpret the information shared by the participants (Moser & Korstjens, 2018).

I used a facilitative approach and allowed the participants to speak freely and employed the use of open ended questions to gather sufficient information. Researchers should focus on obtaining the participants' perceptions, insights, and experiences without influencing the responses, during an interview (Moser & Korstjens, 2018). I used an interview protocol (Appendix) for the interview process. An interview protocol is crucial to the effectiveness of the interview process as it enables the comprehensive collection of information and enhances the comprehension of the participants' perspectives on the phenomenon (Yeong et al., 2018). Interview protocols allow the researcher to glean the requisite information to answer the research question (Kohler, 2016).

I used the member checking process to ensure the validity and reliability of the information gathered during the interviews. Member checking is the process by which a researcher will seek to get feedback from the participants to ensure accurate interpretation of the data collected (Motulsky, 2021). Member checking is used to identify and correct errors and to avoid misrepresentation of the information collected (Varpio et al., 2017). The use of member checking to obtain the participants' validation is a valuable technique to guarantee the credibility of the results (Slettebø, 2021). The member checking process

revealed misinterpretations, which I identified and corrected in communication with the participants.

Data Collection Technique

I collected data through semistructured interviews to address the research question, what strategies do supply chain managers use to manage risks and increase profitability in the Jamaican oil supply chain. I obtained consent from the participants through the execution of the inform consent process prior to conducting the interviews. In qualitative research, the researcher is the main research instrument used for data collection (Moser & Korstjens, 2018). A semistructured is a facilitative process, which allows the participants to share perspectives, experiences, and indepth knowledge about the phenomenon, while the researcher learns (Orr et al., 2020). Qualitative researchers should avoid biases and assumptions while collecting data to prevent misrepresentation and inaccuracies (Clark & Vealé, 2018).

I followed a predetermined interview protocol to guide the interview process. The interview protocol entailed the provision of an overview of the study and an overview of the interview process to the participants. The target of the interview questions was to unearth adequate responses to address the research question. As such there was complete alignment between the interview questions and the research question. Interview questions should appeal to the participants' interests, have clarity, and focus towards answering the research question (Hamilton & Finley, 2020). The interview process is invaluable in that it is an interactive process that produces key data and the emergence of critical results (Fritz & Vandermause, 2018; Gibbs et al., 2007). I ensured that the participants were

comfortable by allowing them to select convenient locations for the interviews, not including their workplace. The participants shared their experiences freely without my influence nor interruption. In an interview the researcher should start with open ended questions related to the topic, which encourage the participants to be at ease and to be willing to share their experiences (Moser & Korstjens, 2018). I further informed the participants of the audio recording requirements of the interview and taking of notes to accurately capture the data. Interview recording is a useful technique for qualitative data analysis (Craig et al., 2021).

After the completion of the interviews, I conducted member checking to identify any misrepresentation of the responses obtained from the participants. I conducted member checking by sending a summary of the interview transcript to the participants, soliciting feedback on the accuracy of interpretations. Member checking is deemed a credibility and quality strategy in qualitative research (Motulsky, 2021). Motulsky (2021) posited that one approach to member checking involves the researcher providing a summary of the interview transcript to the participants in writing for review and correction. The involvement of the participants in validating the responses from the interview will also reduce researcher bias (Birt et al., 2016).

Data Organization Technique

In a qualitative study, information is gathered in the form of audio, transcripts, notes, videos, or archival documents (Yin, 2018). I compared the notes, the transcripts, and the recordings taken in relation to the study topic for consistency. I organized all data collected by date of collection and label the participant's responses using code names. I

created an electronic file for the audio recordings and use pseudonyms for each file to ensure confidentiality. I stored the electronic data on my personal computer for five years. After 5 years, I will destroy all information collected for the study.

Data Analysis

I transcribed the recorded interviews, conducted member checking, and reviewed all notes collected prior to analyzing the data collected. Data transcription is an essential step in the data analysis process. Data transcription fosters immersion into the data and enhances the representation of the perspectives of the participants (Oluwafemi et al., 2021).

For this study, I used data triangulation. I triangulated the data collected from the recorded interviews and notes taking as part of the data analysis process. In qualitative research triangulation is used as a tool to enhance the quality of the findings (Greyson, 2018). Patton (2015) identified data triangulation, investigator triangulation, theory triangulation, and methodological triangulation as four types of triangulations. Data triangulation refers to the triangulation of data from multiple sources (Yin, 2018).

The data analysis process should be of the highest quality and could include the Use of computer assisted tools (Yin, 2018). Data analysis entails the review of notes taken during data collection, and the coding of data (Renz et al., 2018). I used Nvivo software to assist with the data analysis for this study. Nvivo is a software used in qualitative study to assist with data organization and analysis (Huffman et al., 2021). The objective of using the software program was to make the data more manageable and easier to analyze (Renz et al., 2018). I coded the participants' responses into categories

based on common emergent themes related to the study topic and used the steps proposed by Doi (2021) to perform coding. I wrote down common words and phrases which related to the study topic from the interview responses. I paraphrased phrases from the interview responses and used sentences which explained the paraphrased texts. I identified emergent themes and categorized the data by the common themes. I organized the categories into sentences which provided a synopsis of the interview data, as suggested by Doi.

I continued to analyze the data until data saturation was achieved. Data saturation is achieved when the data collected adequately covers the topic of interest and further data collection will not produce any new relevant data (Fofana et al., 2020; Guest et al., 2020).

Reliability and Validity

Coleman (2021) highlighted the importance of ensuring the visibility of validity and reliability in qualitative research. Reliability and validity are markers of trustworthiness, which is an essential component of research (Rose & Johnson, 2020). In (Coleman, 2021). Reliability and validity are vital tenets to be considered when conducting research (Jordan, 2018). The inclusion of multiple sources of data, data triangulation, and the accuracy of the data collected from interviews represent integral factors in consideration of the validity of the construct in qualitative research (Quintao et al., 2020). The demonstration of the appropriateness of the methods used and the integrity of the findings is a requirement in addressing the reliability of the study (Noble & Smith, 2015).

Reliability

Reliability refers to the accurate application of the methods used and the trustworthiness of the findings (Noble & Smith, 2015). Reliability considers the consistency in the analysis of the data collected from all participants (Spiers et al., 2018; Wong & Cooper, 2016). Data triangulation is a key aspect of demonstrating reliability of the study (Qunitao et al., 2020). The illustration of clarity in the data analysis and the justification of the methods used could enhance the reliability of the study (Rose & Johnson, 2020).

Validity

Validity encompasses a determination of the accuracy of the data collected (Rose & Johnson, 2021). Validity refers to the use of the data to represent participant experiences accurately and appropriately (Spiers et al., 2018). Long and Johnson (2000) named content validity, criterion-related validity, and construct validity as three aspects of validity. Content validity refers to the extent to which the instrument captures aspects of the phenomenon being studied (Kennedyet al., 2019). Criterion-related validity refers to the alignment between the data instrument and the findings, and construct validity is concerned with the proximity of the instrument and the phenomenon (Long & Johnson, 2000). The implementation of member-checking is one way of ensuring validity (Coleman, 2021).

Transition and Summary

Section 2 of the study encompassed an explication of the purpose of the study, role of the researcher, and participants. I further explained the research method and

research design used for the study and how the data was collected and analyzed. I ended the section with a discussion on the importance of ensuring the reliability and validity of the study. Section 3 presents the findings of the study and details how the study applies to professional practice, and study implications for social change.

Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change

Introduction

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore the strategies that supply chain managers use to manage risks in the Jamaican oil supply chain. The population included eight supply chain managers from four companies in the Jamaican oil industry. I used purposive sampling to select the participants at the mid and senior leadership levels, who were all responsible for making decisions in their organization's supply chain. All eight managers had experience in the successful implementation of risk management strategies in the supply chain. The data collected came from semistructured interviews which were conducted face to face with each participant. Notes taking and audio recordings were features of the interviews with all participants. I used the member checking process to ensure the accuracy of the data collected.

I analyzed the interview data using Nvivo 14 coding software. The three primary themes which emerged from the data analysis were (a) adaptability and flexibility to oil price volatility, (b) partnership and collaboration, and (c) product quality assurance. The primary themes were further categorized into sub-themes as part of the analysis.

Presentation of the Findings

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to answer the research question, "What strategies do supply chain managers use to manage risks in the Jamaican oil supply chain effectively?" I conducted semistructured interviews with open ended questions with eight midlevel and senior level managers from the Jamaican oil industry.

All managers interviewed have experience in the successful management of supply chain

risks in the oil supply chain. I took notes and audio recordings of the interviews. After transcribing the data collected to a transcript, I conducted member checking until I reached data saturation. After reaching data saturation I used Nvivo 14 software to identify the primary themes and analyze the collected data. This section includes a detailed presentation of the three primary themes and subthemes, which emerged from the data analysis.

Theme 1: Adaptability and Flexibility to Oil Price Volatility

Effective risk mitigation strategies is dependent on an understanding of the root causes and the resultant impact of those risks if left unmanaged (Kahkonen et al., 2023). A company's ability to respond appropriately to oil price volatility is one way of managing risks in the oil supply chain based on responses from seven managers. Agility and adaptability are important characteristics of resilience and competitive advantage (Aslam et al., 2020). The seven managers explained that flexibility and adaptability is a crucial response to the prevailing price volatility which pervades the oil industry. Jamaica is directly affected by fluctuations in international oil prices as Jamaica is not an oil producing country and all oil companies have to import petroleum products. Five managers mentioned that oil is an essential product as an input in most manufacturing processes. As such, when the price of oil increases, inflation and the prices of goods and services increase consequently. It is therefore critical for oil companies to adopt a pricing strategy which is flexible enough to manage the price changes and diminish the negative impact on the organization's profitability and the country's economy.

Five of the eight managers focused on procurement strategy as a risk management response to price volatility. The five managers explained that if the company has sufficient storage capacity and follow market trends, the leaders can make purchases when the price is propitious and hold the inventory if the price changes to a less favorable level after purchases.

As another strategy to manage the risks of price volatility, managers M02, M03, M04, M06 and M07, mentioned risk hedging as a necessary risk management tool. According to the managers, it is not always possible to pass on product cost changes to customers and so risk hedging is one of the methods used to minimize price volatility risk. The managers indicated that some organizations avoid the practice of risk hedging because of potential losses associated with the strategy, but in their experience the benefits far outweigh the potential losses. They stated that they have successfully utilized risk hedging as a mitigation tool against losses resulting from price volatility and preserved the organization's margins.

Table 1 shows the summary of the managers' responses related to adaptability and flexibility to oil price volatility.

Table 1Number of Respondents and References Made to Theme 1 Adaptability and Flexibility to Oil Price Volatility

Subthemes	Number of respondents	Number of references
Pricing strategy	7	17
Procurement strategy	5	9
Risk hedging strategy	5	5
Risk management tools	4	7

Note. Data from NVIVO software show four subthemes which emerged from the data analysis, related to the primary theme Adaptability and Flexibility to Oil Price Volatility. The number of respondents indicate the number of participants who mentioned each theme, while the number of references show the number of times the participants referred to the subtheme.

Subtheme 1: Pricing Strategy

Historically, oil has been a core component of the energy industry and as a result, oil prices have been affected by governmental decisions and economic cycles (Kara & Gok, 2022). Seven managers agreed that speculation and geopolitical issues around the world influence the movement of oil prices. The Jamaican oil companies are directly impacted as the organizations source oil through importation. The managers stated that they have to develop pricing strategies as a response mechanism to lessen the effect of price fluctuations. Managers M02, M03, M04, M06, and M07 posited that from a pricing perspective, they had to negotiate pricing formulas which helped them to adjust the selling prices for their product when there is significant volatility in the buying prices. The five managers mentioned that one pricing strategy which they used is the index based pricing strategy. M02 defined index based pricing as a pricing formula which uses a price

that is indexed to a type of system which allows the organization to incorporate a price plus a margin in determining the selling price for the products. The managers stated that with the index based pricing approach, the organization obtained a fixed price which allowed for price adjustments as were apposite to cover potential losses. Manager M02, M03, M04, and M06 mentioned that in the petroleum business, the marketplace has reference prices, which move with the ebbs and flows of the marketplace and as such they typically focus on supply sources which offer reference indexes which are more aligned to the organization's business strategy. A pricing strategy which entails the purchase and sale of products using an index plus margin is vital to Jamaican oil supply managers.

Manager M05, M06, and M08 stated that they modified their procurement practices to manage price volatility. The managers established partnerships with other oil companies in the region to purchase petroleum products in bulk. With the intercompany partnerships, the managers utilized the opportunities to combine purchases with organizations from other islands which are shipping to multiple locations. One benefit of the partnerships is that all the participating organizations enjoy cheaper purchase prices through volume discounts, which allow them to offer competitive prices for their products.

All seven managers agreed that the potential repercussions of price volatility are extensive as the organization can experience margins contraction and decline in profitability.

Subtheme 2: Procurement Strategy

The purchasing function constitutes the selection of suppliers, management of contracts, assessing supplier performance, and establishing long-term relationships with suppliers (Bayo-Moriones et al., 2011). Five managers explained that they implemented risk management strategies which entailed purchasing decisions geared towards increasing or decreasing oil product inventory to take advantage cost reduction opportunities. Companies maintain inventory to reduce shipping and ordering costs, take advantage of volume discounts, ensure continuity of sales, and avoid fluctuations in demand (Day et al., 2019). The managers stated that price volatility can be managed with sufficient storage capacity for petroleum products. According to the managers, adequate storage capacity will give the organization leverage to make bulk purchases when prices are suitable and stock inventory when prices are trending downwards.

M04 postulated that there are several factors which supply chain managers have to consider when moving petroleum products from source to the marketplace. One such consideration is that the organization usually cannot spot order, so the leaders have to plan in advance based on projected sales, and purchase with the expectation that purchases are sufficient to meet demand until the next purchase cycle. Manager M05 agreed that the organization's ability to accurately forecast demand is a critical element in the procurement decisions. The manager stated that the organization cannot make purchases on a just in time basis, and so demand forecast has to align with purchasing cycles for the large quantities of petroleum products the company has to purchase.

The five managers agreed that bulk purchasing is an effective response to price volatility, Managers M03, M04, and M06 stated that bulk purchasing is limited to available storage capacity for stocking inventory. In response to the potential challenge of insufficient capacity, the managers typically leverage available storage through partnership with other oil companies. Additional storage is the means of ensuring that the supply of products remains consistent even if the main sources of supply are unavailable and if prices are a deterrent during that purchase cycle.

Sourcing is also a critical aspect of the organization's procurement strategy. The successful performance of a supply chain is contingent on the selection of the right suppliers (Namdar et al., 2018). The managers explained that sourcing is especially crucial because of limitations to the existence of supply sources in the Caribbean region. Companies therefore have to seek suppliers from other regions and be subject to heavy taxation, which further increases the prices of products. The managers stated that to combat the risk of sourcing the companies partner with each other to find the right sources, located close enough to the region, where reliability and quality would not be compromised, and the contractual terms are favorable to all. As a contingent, companies rely on the government refinery to source and provide supplies to industry.

Climatic conditions also influence the organization's procurement decisions and response to price volatility. The five managers outlined that Jamaica is located in the Caribbean region and is susceptible to hurricanes and natural disasters. Managers M02, M04, and M07 stated that customarily, the leaders adjust their purchasing patterns in anticipation of the fixed hurricane season. As a result, these organizations have not

experienced any major disruptions due to natural disasters and are able to continue operations without dislocation. Cao and Ma (2022) stated that supply chains often inevitably suffer from the risk of excess inventory, inventory tradeoffs and other factors such as natural disasters which cause supply disruptions. Therefore, it is incumbent on supply chain managers to measure and effectively manage the consequent risks.

Subtheme 3: Risk Hedging Strategy

Myamba and Nguni (2023) defined risk hedging as a plan determined by the top management of the company to combine and allocate resources in the supply chain to counter the adverse effects of supply interruptions. One of the main strategies manager M01 explained was risk hedging as a mitigation tool against price volatility. Manager M02 defined risk hedging in the context of the oil supply chain as the process by which organizations take actions to mitigate the risk of price volatility on margins. Manager M03 defined risk hedging as an initiative or technique which organizations implement to reduce potential losses associated with price fluctuations.

Five managers presented risk hedging as a risk management response to price volatility. The managers explicated that after oil products are sourced and purchased, prices can fluctuate and change the value of the product on hand. Consequently, the company could experience selling products at a loss due to price changes if there is no mitigating action. Risk hedging is therefore necessary and encouraged considering the company has storage capacity and possesses the ability to withstand the shocks of market changes. Manager M02 stated that in Jamaica, currency devaluation is a contributory factor for risk hedging. Manager M03 agreed that the strain on Jamaican currency has an

impact on the oil companies as imported oil products are paid for in foreign currency. As the Jamaican dollar devalues, the landed costs of the oil products increase, triggering the need to use risk hedging as a strategy to protect margins. Manager M08 mentioned that since oil prices are highly determined by geopolitical and economic conditions outside of the sphere of the oil companies, risk hedging is the primary mitigation strategy to manage price volatility. It is crucial that organizations mitigate the risk of price fluctuations through hedging as hedging not only protects against the risks of increasing prices but also improves the company's capital utilization (Xu et al., 2023).

Theme 2: Partnership and Collaboration

The development of cooperative relationships between companies can enhance value creation and plays a pivotal role in almost all business areas especially in relation to supply chain management and logistics (Lindsey Hall et al., 2022). Goldsby et al. (2019) outlined that, to survive and succeed in competitive markets, companies must collaborate with other companies to leverage opportunities and share risks. Six managers agreed that a collaborative effort is necessary for the management of risks in the supply chain, as risks affect all oil companies in the industry collectively. The managers explained that establishing relationships with suppliers and other oil companies in the industry will provide mutually beneficial gains to all participants and assist with securing the profitability of the companies.

The managers highlighted the importance of communication in developing solid relationships which improve the operations of the supply chain and the management of supply chain risks. The managers further added that collaboration and communication in

supply chains can strengthen the process of supply chain risk management. According to Managers M02, M04, and M06, communication among all stakeholders in the supply chain remains paramount to ensure that there is alignment in every area of the supply chain operations. Yang (2013) found that the success of an organization depends on maintaining long term, secure relationships, which promote efficient communication, improved information sharing, and trust.

Five managers posited that intercompany partnerships and collaboration were essential to the development of a unified approach to risk management. Relationships and collaboration in the supply chain can enhance the organization's supply chain resilience, knowledge, and resource exchange, and thereby eliminate supply chain risks (Cab Saglam et al., 2011). According to the managers, the establishment of intercompany collaboration assists with the management of off-shore risks through sourcing, quality, logistics, and getting petroleum products to Jamaica securely and timely.

The managers also highlighted relationships with government authorities as another effective risk management tool. According to Dubey et al. (2023), the disruption to supply chains in some parts of the world has been made worse by a lack of government support. The managers found that the relationships with government regulators and authorities ensure that all companies follow the procedures and carry out the necessary quality checks to mitigate against some of the supply chain risks.

Table 2 provides an illustration of the managers' responses related to partnership and collaboration.

 Table 2

 Number of Respondents and References Made to Theme 2 Partnership and Collaboration

Subthemes	Number of respondents	Number of references
Communication	6	11
Intercompany collaboration	5	22
Government relations	5	14
Collaboration with suppliers	4	7
Berth availability and use	4	6

Note. Data from NVIVO software show five subthemes which emerged from the data analysis, related to the primary theme Partnership and Collaboration. The number of respondents indicate the number of participants who mentioned each theme, while the number of references show the number of times the participants referred to the subtheme.

Subtheme 1: Communication

Communication is an interpersonal process that involves the beginning, maintaining, and ending of information exchanges (Park et al., 2012). Communication represents one of the subthemes which emerged from data analysis. Six managers agreed that effective communication builds trust within the supply chain and enhances the outcomes of supply chain activities. The sharing of accurate information about the supply chain at the appropriate time may help supply chain at the appropriate time may help supply chain stakeholders to better understand business operations and decisions (Can Saglam et al., 2022). According to the managers, communication among stakeholders enables complete understanding of the requirements and procedures involved in getting product from the supplier to the final customer. Managers M01 and M02 highlighted the importance of constant communication with the berthing authorities at the receiving port

to prevent delays in the docking of shipping vessels. The managers stated that in Jamaica, cruise ships have priority status for the use of the multipurpose berth. It is therefore incumbent on the oil company's leaders to maintain communication with the berth representatives to acquire knowledge about the availability of the berth for use, to prevent delays and demurrage costs.

Four managers focused on the importance of communication with suppliers to negotiate prices and to confirm product quality requirements. Manager M04 mentioned that from a pricing perspective, there are ongoing discussions and negotiations with suppliers to determine a pricing formula which will assist the company's leaders in making pricing decisions when there is significant volatility in prices. The managers explained that discussions on product quality with suppliers is of paramount importance. According to manager M05, suppliers in the supply chain adhere to quality standards which may differ from the standards of the buying company, and the government requirements. Since the quality standards of the company are typically more robust, the supply chain managers engage with the suppliers to make sure that there is compliance with all the quality requirements, which make the imported products fit for sale. Kedzia and Staniec (2022) found that companies should maintain proper communication with suppliers to increase supply chain resilience and improve company performance.

Subtheme 2: Intercompany Partnerships and Collaboration

Intercompany collaboration entails the creation of partnerships among companies to manage value added processes through planning, training, and resource integration (Fawcett et al., 2008; Adams et al., 2014). Manager M02 stated that collaboration among

petroleum companies is critical to the effective management of the supply chain. Five managers mentioned that there is currently an association of petroleum leaders from different companies, working with the government to establish industry standards to address risks prevailing in the supply chain. Lindsey Hall et al. (2022) found that interfirm collaboration may lead to the creation of value for the partners and help the companies gain strategic benefits for supply chain management. Partnership, collaboration, and integration in the supply chain facilitate connections that foster knowledge sharing and resource sharing among organizations, to improve performance (Mofokeng & Chinomona, 2019). According to the managers, they engaged in intercompany relationships and collaboration to reduce supply cycle, increase storage capacity, and capitalize on the opportunities to purchase products in bulk. This strategy augmented the reliability of supplies and increased the companies 'resilience to stave off the risks of price volatility.

Manager M03 explained that the availability of suppliers of petroleum products in the Caribbean is minimal. Therefore, companies within the Caribbean have to source supplies outside of the region, subject to additional taxes and external tariffs. As a response mechanism, the companies establish alignments and partnerships with each other to make bulk purchases together to benefit from volume discounts and shared freight and logistics costs. Additionally, the risks encountered are shared by all participating companies, which lessens the burden borne by any one company. Manager M05 shared that storage capacity limitations influence the quantities that the company can purchase to meet demand. Through a long-term partnership with another oil

company, they are able to secure additional storage capacity, which increases the company's ability to purchase sufficient inventory, in exchange for mutually beneficial gains. Successful collaboration can generate mutually beneficial value for all the partner organizations (Shin et al., 2019).

The managers also stated significant collaboration exists among oil companies to address product testing requirements and potential quality defects. The risk of compromised product quality is inherent as companies with different quality standards are making product purchases together, comingling the products which are purchased. Managers M05 and M07 shared that there are dissimilarities among companies in terms of quality standards. However, the companies establish agreements to adhere to the highest standards when comingling, as long as the standards are in compliance with market regulations. The collaborative partnerships in supply chains emerge from the coordination among networking companies to improve performance (Nha Trang et al., 2022).

Subtheme 3: Government Relations

Regulatory frameworks, which are the result of collaboration between regulators, service providers, and consumers have a significant impact on the marketing environment (Quach et al., 2020). Five managers discussed the importance of collaboration between the oil companies and the regulators to ensure that suppliers and other supply chain stakeholders comply with local regulations which protect the organizations and consumers. The upkeep of quality standards and the enhancement of customer service performance fall under the purview of policy makers (Quach et al., 2020).

Three managers referred to a product quality incident called the 'bad gas' event which confronted the Jamaican oil industry in recent years. The managers expressed that the 'bad gas' incident caused significant adverse effects to the oil companies and the Jamaican economy. In response to the incident, the company leaders and policy makers collaborated and agreed on the development and implementation of new regulations to prevent potential product quality issues. Manager M05 explained that subsequent to the 'bad gas' event, the government implemented more stringent product testing requirements for imported petroleum products. In addition to the quality tests carried out by importers, the government representatives from the Bureau of Standards collect product samples, which are tested and approved by the Bureau. Products get released for sale to the public, subject to the results of the quality tests. Manager M07 asserted that the government implemented regulations which are effective in safeguarding the product quality from ship to shore. Mishaps in hazardous industries result in the focus on regulatory shortcomings and draw attention to governmental oversight (King & Hayes, 2018). Government regulation is an important element in marketplaces where there are numerous dominating forms which can affect cost, availability, and quality of the product.

Managers M01 and M03 stated that government bureaucracy can cause delays in the performance of product quality tests on imported products. The managers further shared that partnerships with the relevant government agencies are necessary to expedite approval processes and overcome the potential impediments to getting the products ready for sale. According to manager M01, the relationship with local authorities ensures that

procedures are followed and there is adherence to the relevant quality checks to mitigate product quality risks. The manager stressed that collaboration with the government assists the company in achieving its objectives. The relationship between the government and company constitutes an important component in the development of the company (Miao et al., 2022). The managers agreed that the government has a key role in the development of risk mitigation strategies in some areas of the supply chain. It is incumbent on the government to institute regulatory measures, systems, and controls to make companies accountable for their actions. It is equally important for companies to maintain strong relationships with the government to help them to understand the risks that exist and their role in the management of those risks. Political connections are part of a larger pool of connections which companies could use to mitigate various external risks and uncertainties (Farag & Dickinson, 2020).

The managers highlighted the role of the government in maintaining a safety focus in the oil industry. Manager M05 articulated that safety and environmental risks are inherent in the supply chain and must be managed to prevent incidents which are detrimental to lives and properties. The regulators have partnered with the oil companies to manage the safety and environmental risks through the process of inspections and supervision provided by the port authority and other supporting government agencies. Safety management is essential to the government to promote social stability and economic growth (Farag & Dickinson, 2020). Manager M01 stated that a major safety incident can cause a shutdown of the company's operations and remarkable negative impact on the economy. The manager mentioned that the organizational leaders

implement safety measures to manage safety risks, supported by industry regulations, when receiving imported petroleum products at the port. Manager M08 specified that it is necessary to mitigate environmental risks as the exposure can be limitless. As an example, an oil spill during the product discharge process could cause soil and water contamination and lead to a shutdown of the port to enable recovery and cleanup activities. The regulatory standards to prevent environmental mishaps are stringent and attribute costly penalties for violations to violating companies. The regulators also ensure that there is governmental presence during the unloading of an oil vessel, to provide supervision and immediate response in the event of an emergency. Government regulation embodies a crucial tool for the reduction of pollution in the marine environment as the marine ecological environment is considered a public good (Yu et al., 2023).

Theme 3: Quality Assurance

Supply chain quality is essential to achieving competitive advantage (Xie et al., 2011). Quality assurance ensures the products functionality and conformance to the end users' expectations (Wijewickrama et al., 2022). Quality assurance procedures characterize the collection of companywide activities, which promote collaboration and teamwork in the process of continuous product and service improvement (Bayo-Moriones et al., 2011). Seven managers explained that it is incumbent on the stakeholders along the supply chain to ensure that products sourced meet the requisite quality standards to prevent quality related risks. Quality is a core feature of any product. Premium materials,

outstanding performance, and reliability are desirable features of good quality (Jiang et al., 2022).

According to the managers, employees training is a critical determinant of quality assurance. Manager M02 asserted that the roles and activities within the supply chain require specialized skillsets. Supply chain managers must incorporate continuous training in their portfolio, to equip the employees with the specialized skill and knowledge, which enable quality execution at the different segments within the supply chain. Finding the right people for the right jobs is difficult, as in the supply chain it takes unique skill requirements to connect the different functions within the organization and the supply chain to foster value creation (Flothmann et al., 2018a). Manager M03 believed that capabilities, competencies, and training programs are germane to the supply chain and its operations.

Six managers highlighted product quality as a significant element of quality assurance. Manager M05 pointed out supply chain managers ensure that product quality adheres to the company's quality standards and government regulations as poor product quality can adversely affect equipment, production, and customer satisfaction. In some industries, competition is shifting from price to quality as customers are demanding higher product quality. Therefore, more organizations are using quality improvement as an effective competitive tool by focusing on supplier quality control (He et al., 2016). Product quality deficiencies can lead to liabilities from potential safety risks. A focus on quality could reduce the occurrence of safety issues, and increase consumers' utility and demand (Fan et al., 2020).

Table 3 shows the summary of the strategies expressed by the managers in relation to quality assurance.

 Table 3

 Number of Respondents and References Made to Theme 3 Quality Assurance

Subthemes	Number of respondents	Number of references
Training	7	13
Product quality	6	15
Customer satisfaction	5	6
Equipment inspection	5	10
Investments	5	14
Safety	4	6
Time management	1	1

Note. Data from NVIVO software show seven subthemes which emerged from the data analysis, related to the primary theme Partnership and Collaboration. The number of respondents indicate the number of participants who mentioned each theme, while the number of references show the number of times the participants referred to the subtheme.

Subtheme 1: Training

In the supply chain, knowledge, skills, and abilities are unique and enhance the company's competitive advantage (Birou & Hoek, 2022). Companies and employees in the global marketplace require specialized training to boost their competitiveness.

Training is a procedure which uses various approaches to improve the knowledge and skills employees need to do their jobs effectively (Hashim & Shariff, 2016). Seven managers emphasized that employees training is necessary to avoid some supply chain risks and to enhance the management of other risks. The managers agreed that most of

the supply chain activities require specialized training to ensure safety, efficiency, and reliability. Manager M04 articulated that the company has skilled employees in place who have complete understanding of the supply chain operations and the management systems and controls which are necessary to manage the operations. The ongoing development of human capital revenue in an organization is necessary for the managers to enrich the pool of knowledge, skills, and talents (Wright et al., 1994). An employee's knowledge, skills, abilities, and values could be augmented through training, education, and other professional initiatives which will increase the performance of the workforce and the company (Hashim & Sariff, 2016).

The managers highlighted that training is done consistently for all the workers who are actively involved in the supply chain operations. The supply chain managers ensure that the workers responsible for operating equipment, managing data, analyzing product specifications, and assessing product quality, possess the knowledge, skillsets, and information to execute their duties safely and effectively. All managers agreed that training administration is sometimes impacted by accessibility to training as specialized trainings for supply chain operations are not available locally. Collaboration among the oil companies becomes essential in fulfilling training needs. As an example, the companies provide labor support to each other whenever employees have to travel internationally to participate in the relevant training sessions. Intercompany collaboration in the supply chain can increase a company's knowledge and competencies, and foster supply chain resilience (Can Saglam et al., 2022). The companies also partner with local

governmental agencies to develop training programs, which can be administered locally, especially in the area of safety based on the volatile nature of petroleum products.

Manager M05 highlighted the importance of training as a requirement for quality assurance by stating that without appropriate training, lack of adherence to standards could create challenges which affect product quality and customer satisfaction. Managers M06 and M08 also stated that their companies have their own testing laboratories with technicians who are trained extensively in all testing processes, including mandatory internal training program, overseas training with equipment manufacturers, and onsite training facilitated by international equipment suppliers. The managers reiterated that continuous training is necessary to mitigate safety and quality risks in the supply chain.

Subtheme 2: Product Quality

Tse and Tan (2011) defined product quality risk as inherent quality issues with production inputs, logistics, and other areas of the supply chain which could have a cascading effect on the entire supply chain. Six managers explained that they have to ensure that imported petroleum products meet local quality standards to prevent product quality risks. Manager M01 asserted that the supply managers in his organization make sure that the relevant product tests are carried out to guarantee compliance with quality standards before introducing the products to the market for final sale to customers. The managers mentioned that quality remains a significant area of focus in the Jamaican oil industry especially in light of an incident in recent years, which involved product quality issues that significantly affected the market and supplies. In giving a synopsis of the incident, the managers stated that petroleum products were imported that did not meet the

quality requirements but were sold to the public. The impact of the occurrence extended to damage to customers vehicles and equipment after purchasing the low-quality products. The product quality incident led the government to implement new regulations to identify and resolve product quality risks and protect the oil industry and the consumers. The managers agreed that although the new regulatory requirements created additional steps in the product quality assurance process, which could potentially delay products getting to the market quickly, the initiative was welcomed as the benefits far outweigh the potential costs.

According to Manager M03, his company hired quality assurance agents to get expedited approvals for imports after all testing requirements are met. Manager M05 also stated that when a vessel arrives with imported products, the company, through the petroleum terminals, collect samples from the vessel and conduct a series of standard tests before transferring the products into storage tanks. Further, the government has added another layer of contingency to have the government agencies collect and test additional samples before the products can be released for sale to the public. Recognizing the importance of quality, governments create legislation and designate regulatory agencies to mandate and enforce quality standards in some instances (Arya et al., 2014). Quality is an important component in the production and delivery of goods which are defect-free and satisfy customers requirements within the supply chain (Sila et al., 2006).

Managers M03, M05, M06, M07, and M08 asserted that their companies adhere to the government of Jamaica Petroleum Quality Control Act, with specifications similar to international standards. They further stated that all petroleum products distributed by

their respective companies adhere to stringent industry standards. Managers M06 and M08 posited that in addition to training and adherence to national and international standards, their company utilizes a labor quality management system which includes a calibration, verification, and maintenance program for product testing instruments. The company uses these systems to ensure that they supply only products which meet the required quality standards.

The managers explained that when moving products from supplier to customers, the supply chain managers maintain a focus on safe delivery and ensure that quality standards are not compromised. Five managers added that poor quality products can affect equipment, production, and customer satisfaction. The managers further mentioned that although in most cases companies partner with each other for the importation of petroleum products, each individual company is responsible for its own product quality and meeting the testing requirements. Companies also engage in the injection of product additives to imported products as a differentiator, to achieve competitive advantage through product quality.

Applications to Professional Practice

In this qualitative multiple case study, I explored the strategies supply chain managers in the Jamaican oil industry use to manage supply chain risks effectively. The population included eight supply chain managers from four oil companies located in Jamaica who successfully implemented strategies to manage supply chain risks. I recruited supply chain managers as they are the most appropriate population with experience in deploying successful risk management strategies in the oil supply chain. I

purposely selected the population from oil companies located in Jamaica as these oil companies experience ubiquitous supply chain risks with the potential to erode profitability and lack of risk management strategies is a prevailing concern in the industry. The findings of this study may assist supply chain leaders within oil companies with innovative solutions which will enhance the management of risks and improve profitability. Risk management teams who seek to mitigate supply chain risks may be able to use the findings of this study to develop and implement more effective strategies to mitigate supply chain risks and increase profitability.

The increasing complexities of supply chains make effective management of supply chain disruptions a priority for supply chain leaders (Baryannis et al., 2019). As organizations focus on identifying and mitigating the supply chain risks which could affect profitability adversely, it is imperative that supply chain leaders are equipped with the requisite risk management capabilities which build resilience and enhance performance. Supply chain risk management capabilities have positive effects on the company's profitability and performance and enhance competitive advantage through effective risk management (Qiao & Zhao, 2023). Under the conditions of supply shortages and increases in demand brough about by supply chain disruptions, organizations need to develop the capabilities to be alert to, adapt to, and respond to changes with efficiency and effectiveness (Liu & Wei, 2022). The study participants emphasized that supply chain leaders should develop strategies which are flexible and adaptable to supply chain changes, particularly strategies related to pricing and procurement. These findings may increase supply chain managers' knowledge and

understanding of strategies used to navigate the prevalence of price volatility, which is an inherent feature of the oil supply chain. Additionally, the managers may be better positioned to select suppliers who present with the requisite characteristics which facilitate the continuity of supply at prices and enable increased profitability and improved performance. As companies operate in a dynamic environment of proliferating changes, the focus is on the development of strategies which ensure the companies' viability (Ho et al., 2015).

This study provides some relevant findings to supply chain managers for developing strategic partnerships to enhance their risk management strategies and competitiveness. Organizations seek to gain supply chain risk capabilities through well aligned collaboration. This study posits relevant insights on the importance of collaboration for supply chain managers. First, it is recommended that the stakeholders establish effective communication which fosters the building of trust and the sharing of information geared towards a unified approach in the management of supply chain risks. Collaborative risk management is a process built on shared commitment between companies with the aim of reducing supply chain risks through resource sharing and the development of mutually beneficial capabilities (Friday et al., 2018). Interorganizational relationships are fundamental in the management of supply chain disruptions (Bygballe et al., 2023). Second, managers should establish strategic relationships with policymakers to ensure that there are regulations in place to protect organizations and customers and to make companies accountable for their actions. The relationship between companies and the government can enhance a company's development (Miao et al., 2022).

Supply chain managers in the oil industry should pay increasing attention to the cultivation of a quality assurance process as a supply chain risk management capability to respond to product quality risks and improve customer satisfaction. The findings of this study indicate that prioritizing specialized training and product quality may guarantee the assurance of quality in company deliverables and mitigate quality related risks. Quality in the supply chain is a key factor in attaining customer satisfaction (Sila et al., 2006).

The findings of this study create an understanding that key supply chain capabilities are a prerequisite for companies to realign their strategies and resources to adapt to a changing environment. As this study was undertaken in a developing country, one where companies are vulnerable, a study suggestion is that supply chain managers adopt the right combination of strategies to manage supply chain risks.

Implications for Social Change

Globalization and the growing complexities and interdependences within the supply chain increase the vulnerability and potential consequences of supply chains (Ozdemir et al., 2022). It is essential for an organization to implement the appropriate measures to manage vulnerabilities and meet the needs of the stakeholders. Therefore, supply chain risk management is not solely a mitigation tool for supply chain risks but also a strategic management process which leaders use to generate value for the company, its customers, shareholders, and other stakeholders (Trkman et al., 2016). Therefore, it is imperative that supply chain managers implement strategies which address operational and financial risks as well as focus on the social requirements of the

community. Supply chain social aspect encapsulate operational activities which impact people and the community (Klassen & Vereecke, 2012).

The impact of supply chain risks is drastic on the social wellbeing of many stakeholders and the findings of this study highlight the importance to allocate much attention to the implementation of effective risk management strategies. Supply chain managers should consider the important role of social implications in their operations (Najaf et al., 2023). In terms of social implications, supply chain managers can use the findings of this study when developing risk management strategies to improve workers and customers experience and promote economic growth. Companies can motivate workers by providing them with resources and autonomy and creating opportunities for the workers to use their knowledge to make decisions and solve operational issues. Empowering workers will work as a catalyst to the creation of a risk management culture which would help to build resilience in the supply chain and enhance employees development. Supply chain leaders should use knowledge garnered through collaboration and information sharing to help employees hone their skills and knowledge base and boost their development (Ali & Arslan, 2023). Additionally, managers should develop training and rewards program to influence behaviors in employees which spur positive operational changes (Ali & Arslan, 2023) and improve workers welfare.

Supply chain managers should ensure that social needs are addressed by implementing preemptive measures which lessen the social risk effects of supply chains. Companies can demonstrate their social responsibility by engaging in social sustainability. Social sustainability activities can cause an organization to gain

competitive advantage and win customer trust (Duong & Ha. 2021). If supply chain managers actively promote social sustainability incentives which emphasize enhancing employees' working conditions, wellbeing, health, and safety, they will further achieve the company's objectives and establish a positive reputation. In a dynamic environment, collaboration is essential to the success of companies in the supply chain. Companies that collaborate can identify and resolve social issues quickly and effectively and contribute to society by reducing pollution and protecting the environment (Duong & Ha, 2021). Customers would be willing to support companies which are socially responsible. In addition, employees' satisfaction is more likely to increase because of positive impressions of workplace safety.

In addition, this study can assist the government of third world countries and particularly Jamaica, to effect social change and enhance the economy. Since the cost of energy is high and oil is an input in all manufacturing processes, the government should seek to implement policies that address the high energy cost. The reduction in energy cost will reduce production costs and the cost of goods and services, and result in reduced inflation levels and the promotion of economic growth.

The use of effective risk management strategies may lead to the development of a more robust risk management process in the supply chain context which can create a more efficient and effective supply chain. Effective supply chains can increase a supplier's ability to meet customer needs, improve product quality and cost and enhance product development (Ozdemir et al., 2022). Organizations that are a part of an efficient

supply chain can increase profitability, which would increase job creation and employee welfare, promote economic growth, and improve social conditions.

The findings of this study can help supply chain managers in the oil industry to solve social issues in a responsive manner. Supply chain managers can enrich employees' wellbeing and working conditions and increase their companies' value to the community.

Recommendations for Action

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore the strategies that supply chain managers use to effectively manage risks in the Jamaican oil supply chain. To improve the attainment of the planned goals, it is essential for an organization to have the capacity to control risks variable which could jeopardize performance (de Souza Feitosa et al., 2021). The results of my study may assist oil supply chain managers to develop and implement effective strategies to successfully manage risks in the supply chain and improve profitability. Based on the findings of this study, I would posit the following recommendations.

First, as the findings suggest, the oil industry is subject to price volatility which requires systematic management to mitigate potential losses. I would recommend that supply chain managers develop pricing and procurement strategies which allow them the flexibility to respond to price changes quickly and appropriately. The company's purchasing decisions should include establishing partnerships with other stakeholders to make bulk purchases, thereby reducing the impact of increases in product prices. Supply chain managers should also ensure that they remain current with market conditions to enable accurate forecasting in making purchase decisions.

I would also recommend a risk management approach which incorporates partnerships and collaboration among supply chain stakeholders which is mutually beneficial for all supply chain partners. Communication, knowledge sharing, and trust are essential pillars for successful communication. The benefits of collaboration are multifold and encompass the leveraging of opportunities and the sharing of risks. Partnerships with suppliers, other companies and policymakers will lead to value creation and improved profitability for all partners. A collective approach to risk management can improve performance in all areas of the supply chain.

Another recommendation includes a focus on quality in all aspects of the supply chain. The findings of this study indicate that quality assurance is an important element of risk management in the oil industry based on the volatile nature of petroleum products. I recommend that Jamaican oil supply chain managers invest in employees training to develop the skillsets necessary for quality assurance. Specialized training programs will improve employee development, the quality of workers output and continuous improvements in the quality of products. Additionally, managers and regulators should ensure the development of robust product standards and adherence to such standards through the implementation of policies and procedures which comply with regulations. Adherence to standards and procedures is essential to the distribution of quality products in the marketplace. Governments and regulators have a responsibility to establish a well structured regulatory framework which compels companies to adhere to social requirements in the supply chain (Najaf et al., 2023). Government should also seek to

develop policies that support the reduction of energy cost and boost the oil industry and economic growth.

The findings and recommendations of this study are useful to supply chain managers, organizational leaders, policymakers, and researchers. Supply chain managers and organizational leaders in the oil industry can use the study findings to develop effective risk management strategies which will benefit individual organizations and the supply chain as a whole. Policymakers can use the findings to strengthen regulations geared toward ensuring companies compliance with social policies and researchers can use the findings to explore other risk management strategies not covered in this study.

Recommendations for Further Research

In this qualitative multiple case study, I explored the strategies supply chain leaders use to manage risks in the oil supply chain. As there are limitations in the research process for this study, it is hoped that further researchers can make improvements which will make future research more comprehensive. The study was specific to supply chain managers in the oil industry located in Jamaica. Future research directions could aim to deepen our understanding of supply chain risks and risk management strategies used in other industries and other geographic regions as supply chain risks transcend across borders and pervade many industries.

This study was also limited in that the focus was on a segment of the supply chain downstream operations. A case study could also be conducted on the offshore oil supply chain to distinguish the supply chain risk management strategies which are adopted by companies which operate in the upstream segments of the oil industry.

Another limitation of this study is the use of qualitative data obtained from semistructured interviews. Data collection for future research could include analysis of company documents which would increase our understanding on how organizational internal policies influence the implementation of risk management strategies and corroborate the findings from the interviews. Documentation is useful in case study research to support information from other sources (Yin, 2018). In addition. The use of qualitative data limits the explanation further and in detail, each result from a quantitative perspective. Future researchers can use the quantitative method to study the relationship between the different management strategies and supply chain performance in the oil industry.

In conclusion, future research should explore the effectiveness of emerging technologies on risk management and how Jamaican oil supply chain managers can utilize technology to proactively assess and manage risks in the supply chain.

Reflections

The journey towards the completion of my doctoral study was challenging but offered tremendous rewards. My objective was to increase my knowledge about the risk management strategies which supply chain managers use to manage risks in the oil supply chain and remain profitable. In the preparation of my study, I had some preconceptions derived from my experience in the oil industry as a marketer. One preconception was the assumption that the development and implementation of effective risk management strategies in the supply chain was the individual responsibility of each company as opposed to a collective effort by the supply chain stakeholders. Through the

literature, I discovered that collaboration is a key strategy in supply chain risk management and risk mitigation. The findings of my study also revealed the essentiality of collaboration in the Jamaican context. The participants discussed the need for intercompany collaboration including partnerships with regulators, competitors, and suppliers.

Another assumption that I developed based on my observations prior to the study was that supplier selection was of paramount importance to companies in the supply chain. Consistent with my assumption, the literature review and the study findings indicated that sourcing is a strategic risk management tactic in the supply chain. The literature highlighted that the selection of suppliers is integral to the successful performance of the supply chain.

The knowledge I garnered through this study was vast and enlightening. The information I unearthed in the literature showed that supply chains which are stable, resilient, and flexible are in a better position to manage risks effectively. In addition, sourcing, collaboration, and innovation are some of the effective risk management strategies which managers implement in the supply chain. These learnings are in alignment with the findings from my study.

From the result of my study, it was evident that the participants responded proactively to most risks which are inherent in their companies' supply chain and adopted a flexible approach to mitigate against any emerging risks. The participants also underscored the importance of collaboration and sourcing as effective strategies in gaining competitive advantage.

During this study, I obtained a detailed and in depth understanding of supply chain risks and risk management, which are subjects of great interest to me academically, and professionally. Notwithstanding the challenges along the journey, I gained value that is unparalleled to any other learning experience.

Conclusion

In this qualitative multiple case study, I explored the strategies Jamaican oil supply chain managers use to manage supply chain risks in the oil industry. Findings were gleaned from the experiences of eight supply chain managers from five oil companies in Jamaica. Results from the study indicated that supply chain risk management requires an understanding of the risks, knowledge of the risks' sources, and the ability to respond timely and effectively through adaptability, flexibility, and resilience to lessen the adverse effects of the risks. In addition, further effective risk management can occur through strategic partnerships and collaborative relationships characterized by communication, trust, and knowledge sharing with supply chain stakeholders. Supply chain managers should be aware that companies can gain competitive advantage through their ability to be responsive to supply chain risks.

References

- Abdelkafi, N. & Pero, M. (2018). Supply chain innovation-driven business models:

 Exploratory analysis and implications for management. *Business Process*Management Journal, 24(2), 589–608. https://doi.org/10.1108/BPMJ-05-2016-0109
- Abeysekara, N., Wang, H., & Kuruppuarachchi, D. (2019). Effect of supply-chain resilience on firm performance and competitive advantage: A study of the Sri Lankan apparel industry. *Business Process Management Journal*, 25(7), 1673–1695. https://doi.org/10.1108/BPMJ-09-2018-0241
- Adams, F. G., Richey, R. G., Autry, C. W., Morgan, T. R., & Gabler, C. B. (2014).

 Supply chain collaboration, integration, and relational technology: How complex operant resources increase performance outcomes. *Journal of Business Logistics*, 35 (4), 299-317. https://doi.org/10.1111/jbl.12074
- Afraz, M. F., Bhatti, S. H., Ferraris, A., & Couturier, J. (2021). The impact of supply chain innovation on competitive advantage in the construction industry: Evidence from a moderated multi-mediation model. *Technological Forecasting & Social Change*, 162. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2020.120370
- Agigi, A., Niemann, W. & Kotzé, T. (2016). Supply chain design approaches for supply chain resilience: A qualitative study of South African fast-moving consumer goods grocery manufacturers: Original research. *Journal of Transport and Supply Chain Management*, 10(1), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.4102/jtscm.v10i1.253
- Ali, I., Golgeci, I., & Arslan, A. (2023). Achieving resilience through knowledge

- management practices and risk management culture in agri-food supply chains. Supply Chain Management, 28(2), 284–299. https://doi.org/10.1108/SCM-02-2021-0059
- Ali, S. M., Rahman, M. H., Tumpa, T. J., Moghul Rifat, A. A., & Paul, S. K. (2018).
 Examining price and service competition among retailers in a supply chain under potential demand disruption. Journal of Retailing & Consumer Services, 40, 40-47. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jretconser.2017.08.025
- Ali, I., & Shukran, K. (2016). Managing supply chain risks and vulnerabilities through collaboration: Present and future scope. *Journal of Developing Areas*, *50*, 335-342. https://doi.org/10.1353/jda.2016.0027
- Andrews, R. (2019). Improving the practice of continuity through interdisciplinary understanding. *Journal of Business Continuity & Emergency Planning*, *12*(4), 301–308. https://www.henrystewartpublications.com/jbcep
- Annansingh, F., & Howell, K. (2016). Using phenomenological constructivism (PC) to discuss a mixed method approach in information systems research. *Electronic Journal of Business Research Methods*, *14*(1), 39-49. https://www.ejbrm.com/
- Aqlan, F., & Lam, S. S. (2016). Supply chain optimization under risk and uncertainty: A case study for high-end server manufacturing. *Computers & Industrial Engineering*, 93, 78-87. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cie.2015.12.025
- Aslam, H., Khan, A. Q., Rashid, K., & Rehman, S. U. (2020) Achieving supply chain

- resilience: The role of supply chain ambidexterity and supply chain agility. *Journal of Manufacturing Technology Management 31*(6), 1185-1204. https://doi.org/10.1108/JMTM-07-2019-0263
- Bals, L., Schulze, H., Kelly, S., & Stek, K. (2019). Purchasing and supply management (PSM) competencies: Current and future requirements. *Journal of Purchasing and Supply Management*, 25(5). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pursup.2019.100572
- Baryannis, G., Validi, S., Dani, S., & Antoniou, G. (2019). Supply chain risk management and artificial intelligence: state of the art and future research directions. *International Journal of Production Research*, *57*(7), 2179–2202. https://doi.org/10.1080/00207543.2018.1530476
- Basole, R.C., Bellamy, M.A., Park, H., & Putrevu, J. (2016). Computational analysis and visualization of global supply network risks. *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Informatics*, 12(3), 1206-1213. https://doi.org/10.1109/TII.2016.2549268
- Bayo-Moriones, A., Bello-Pintado, A., & Merino-Díaz-de-Cerio, J. (2011). Quality assurance practices in the global supply chain: The effect of supplier localisation. *International Journal of Production Research*, 49(1), 255–268.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/00207543.2010.508953
- Behzadi, G., O'Sullivan, M. J., Olsen, T. L., & Zhang, A. (2018). Agribusiness supply chain risk management: A review of quantitative decision models. *Omega* 79, 21–42. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.omega.2017.07.005
- Bergmann, A. (2016). The link between corporate environmental and corporate financial

- performance—viewpoints from practice and research. *Sustainability*, 8(12), 1219. https://doi.org/10.3390/su8121219
- Birt, L., Scott, S., Cavers, D., Campbell, C., & Walter, F. (2016). Member checking. *Qualitative Health Research*, 26(13), 1802–1811.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732316654870
- Blaikie, N. (2018). Confounding issues related to determining sample size in qualitative research. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 21(5), 635–641. https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2018.1454644
- Blessley, M., & Mudambi, S. M. (2022). A trade war and a pandemic: Disruption and resilience in the food bank supply chain. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 102, 58–73. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2022.01.002
- Blome, C., & Schoenherr, T. (2011). Supply chain risk management in financial crises—

 A multiple case-study approach. *International Journal of Production Economics*134(1), 43-57. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2011.01.002
- Bogataj, D., Aver, B., & Bogataj, M. (2016). Supply chain risk at simultaneous robust perturbations. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 181, 68–78. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2015.09.009
- Boonyanusith, W., & Jittamai, P. (2019). Blood supply chain risk management using house of risk model. *Walailak Journal of Science & Technology, 16*(8), 573–591. https://wjst.wu.ac.th/
- Breuer, C., Siestrup, G., Haasis, H.-D., and Wildebrand, H. (2013). Collaborative risk

- management in sensitive logistics nodes. *Team Performance Management*, 9(7/8), 331–351. https://doi.org/10.1108/TPM-11-2012-0036
- Brusset, X., Teller, C. (2017). Supply chain capabilities, risks, and resilience. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 184, 59-68

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2016.09.008
- Büyüközkan, G., & Göçer, F. (2018a). Digital supply chain: Literature review and a proposed framework for future research. *Computers in Industry*, 97, 157-177. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compind.2018.02.010
- Cantor, D. E., Blackhurst, J., Pan, M., & Crum, M. (2014). Examining the role of stakeholder pressure and knowledge management in supply chain risk and demand responsiveness. *International Journal of Logistics Management*, 25(1), 202-223. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJLM-10-2012-0111
- Cao, J. & Ma, C. (2022). Procurement strategies and auction mechanism for heterogeneous service providers in a service supply chain. *Sustainability*, 14(9201), 9201. https://doi.org/10.3390/su14159201
- Can Saglam, Y., Yildiz Çankaya, S., Golgeci, I., Sezen, B., & Zaim, S. (2022). The role of communication quality, relational commitment, and reciprocity in building supply chain resilience: A social exchange theory perspective. *Transportation Research Part E*, 167. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tre.2022.102936
- Capolupo, R., Amendolagine, V., & Ferri, G. (2017). Offshore-sourcing strategies and

- the puzzle of productivity: a micro-level analysis. *Journal of Global Operations* and *Strategic Sourcing*, 10(3), 282-308. https://doi.org/10.1108/JGOSS-12-2016-0039
- Carbonara, N., & Pellegrino, R. (2018). Real options approach to evaluate postponement as supply chain disruptions mitigation strategy. *International Journal of Production Research*, *56*(15), 5249–5271.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/00207543.2017.1403663
- Carr, E. M., Zhang, G. D., Ming, J. (Hung) Y., & Siddiqui, Z. S. (2019). Qualitative research: An overview of emerging approaches for data collection. *Australasian Psychiatry*, 27(3), 307–309. https://doi.org/10.1177/1039856219828164
- Catalin, S. H., Bogdan, B., & Dimitrie, G. R. (2014). The existing barriers in implementing total quality management. *Annals of the University of Oradea, Economic Science Series*, 23, 1234-1240.

 https://www.steconomiceuoradea.ro/anale/volume/2014/n1/138.pdf
- Cavalcante de Souza Feitosa, I. S., Ribeiro Carpinetti, L. C., & de Almeida-Filho, A. T. (2021). A supply chain risk management maturity model and a multi-criteria classification approach. *Benchmarking: An International Journal*, 28(9), 2636–2655. https://doi.org/10.1108/BIJ-09-2020-0487
- Caviggioli, F., & Ughetto, E. (2019). A bibliometric analysis of the research dealing with the impact of additive manufacturing on industry, business and society.

 International Journal of Production Economics, 208, 254–268.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2018.11.022

- Chaudhuri, A., Boer, H., & Taran, Y. (2018). Supply chain integration, risk management and manufacturing flexibility. *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*, 38(3), 690–712. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJOPM-08-2015-0508
- Chang, W., Ellinger, A., & Blackhurst, J. (2015). A contextual approach to supply chain risk mitigation. *International Journal of Logistics Management*, 26, 642-656. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJLM-02-2014-0026
- Chatterjee, K., & Das, N. (2021). Informed consent in biomedical research: Scopes and challenges. *Indian Dermatology Online Journal*, *12*(4), 529–535. https://doi.org/10.4103/idoj.IDOJ_83_21
- Chen, J., Sohal, A., & Prajogo, D. (2013). Supply chain operational risk mitigation: A collaborative approach. *International Journal of Production Research*, *51*(7), 2186-2199. https://doi.org/10.1080/00207543.2012.727490
- Chen, Y., Shu, T., Chen, S., Wang, S., Lai, K. K., & Gan, L. (2017). Strong–weak collaborative management in coping supply chain disruption risk transmission based on scale-free networks. *Applied Economics*, 49(39), 3943–3958. https://doi.org/10.1080/00036846.2016.1273494
- Cho, B., Ryoo, S.Y. & Kim, K.K. (2017). Interorganizational dependence, information transparency in interorganizational information systems, and supply chain performance. *European Journal of Information Systems*, 26(2), 185–205. https://doi.org/10.1057/s41303-017-0038-1
- Christopher, M., & Holweg, M. (2017). Supply chain 2.0 revisited: A framework for

- managing volatility-induced risk in the supply chain. *International Journal of Physical Distribution & Logistics Management*, 47(1), 2-17. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJPDLM-09-2016-0245
- Chu, C.-Y., Park, K., & Kremer, G. E. (2020). A global supply chain risk management framework: An application of text-mining to identify region-specific supply chain risks. *Advanced Engineering Informatics*, 45.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aei.2020.101053
- Clark, K. R., & Vealé, B. L. (2018). Strategies to Enhance Data Collection and Analysis in Qualitative Research. *Radiologic Technology*, 89(5), 482CT–485CT.
- Coleman, P. (2021). Validity and reliability within qualitative research in the caring sciences. *International Journal of Caring Sciences*, *14*(3), 2041–2045
- Colicchia, C., & Strozzi, F. (2012), Supply chain risk management: A new methodology for a systematic literature review. *Supply Chain Management: An International Journal*, 17(4), 403-418. https://doi.org/10.1108/13598541211246558
- Craig, S.L., McInroy, L.B., Goulden, A., Eaton, A. D., (2021). Engaging the senses in qualitative research via multimodal coding: Triangulating transcript, audio, and video data in a study with sexual and gender minority youth. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 20. https://doi.org/10.1177/16094069211013659
- Deady, R. (2011). Reading with Methodological Perspective Bias: A journey into Classic Grounded Theory. *Grounded Theory Review*, 10(1), 41-57. https://groundedtheoryreview.com/
- Deng, X., Yang, X., Zhang, Y., Li, Y., & Lu, Z. (2019). Risk propagation mechanisms

- and risk management strategies for a sustainable perishable products supply chain. *Computers & Industrial Engineering*, *135*, 1175–1187. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cie.2019.01.014
- De Almeida, M. M., Marins, F. A., Salgado, A. M., Santos, F. C., and da Silva, S. L. (2017). The importance of trust and collaboration between companies to mitigate the bullwhip effect in supply chain management. *Maringá*, *39*(2), 201-210. https://doi.org/10.4025/actascitechnol.v39i2.29648
- De Guzman, A. B., Valdez, L. P., Henson, C. P., Gumba, R. E., & Fradejas, F. V. (2020). So near and yet so far: a grounded theory study of incarcerated Filipino elderly's experiences of emotional geography. *Educational Gerontology*, 46(4), 235–245. https://doi.org/10.1080/03601277.2020.1726648
- De Souza Bispo, M. (2017). Educating qualitative researchers in management: Toward performative judgements. *Rae: Revista de Administração de Empresas*, *57*(2), 158-169. https://doi.org/10.1590/S0034-759020170205
- Dey, K., Roy, S., & Saha, S. (2019). The impact of strategic inventory and procurement strategies on green product design in a two-period supply chain. *International Journal of Production Research*, *57*(7), 1915–1948. https://doi.org/10.1080/00207543.2018.1511071
- Doi, T. (2021). Usability textual data analysis: A formulaic coding think-aloud protocol method for usability evaluation. *Applied Sciences*, 11(7047), 7047. https://doi.org/10.3390/app11157047
- Drazin, R., & Van De Ven, A. H. (1985). Alternative Forms of Fit in Contingency

- Theory. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, *30*, 514-539. https://www.johnson.cornell.edu/Administrative-Science-Quarterly
- Dresch, A., Lacerda, D. P., & Cauchick Miguel, P. A. (2015). A distinctive analysis of case study, action research and design science research. *Revista Brasileira De Gestão De Negócios*, 17, 1116-1133. https://doi.org/10.7819/rbgn.v17i56.2069
- Duong, N. H., & Quang-An, H. (2021). The links between supply chain risk management practices, supply chain integration and supply chain performance in Southern Vietnam: A moderation effect of supply chain social sustainability. *Cogent Business & Management*, 8(1). https://doi.org/10.1080/23311975.2021.1999556
- Edwards, G. (2017). Big ideas in social science. *International Journal of Research & Method in Education*, 40(2), 221–222.

https://doi.org/10.1080/1743727x.2016.1275277

- El Fadil, J., & St-Pierre, J. (2016). Analysis and management of risks associated with outsourcing in China: The experience of seven Canadian firms. *Strategic Outsourcing: An International Journal*, 9(2), 218-242.

 https://doi.org/10.1108/SO-08-2015-0018
- Emrouznejad, A., Abbasi, S., & Sıcakyüz, Ç. (2023). Supply chain risk management: A content analysis-based review of existing and emerging topics. *Supply Chain Analytics*, 3(4). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sca.2023.100031
- Er Kara, M., Oktay Fırat, S. Ü., & Ghadge, A. (2020). A data mining-based framework for supply chain risk management. *Computers & Industrial Engineering*, 139. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cie.2018.12.017

- Fan, Y. and Stevenson, M. (2018). A review of supply chain risk management:

 Definition, theory, and research agenda. *International Journal of Physical Distribution & Logistics Management*, 48(3), 205-230.

 https://doi.org/10.1108/IJPDLM-01-2017-0043
- Farag, H., & Dickinson, D. (2020). The power of connections: Evidence from financial companies. *Journal of Corporate Finance*, 64.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcorpfin.2020.101643
- Fawcett, S.E., Magnan, G.M., & McCarter, M.W., (2008). A three-stage implementation model for supply chain collaboration. *Journal of Business Logistics*, 29 (1), 93-112. https://doi.org/10.1002/j.2158-1592.2008.tb00070.x
- Ferreira, S. M., Sayago, S., & Blat, J. (2017). Older people's production and appropriation of digital videos: An ethnographic study. *Behaviour & Information Technology*, 36, 557-574. https://doi.org/10.1080/0144929X.2016.1265150
- Fleming, J., & Zegwaard, K. E. (2018). Methodologies, methods and ethical considerations for conducting research in work-integrated learning. *International Journal of Work-Integrated Learning*, 19(3), 205–213
- Flynn, B. B., Koufteros, X., & Lu, G. (2016). On theory in supply chain uncertainty and its implications for supply chain integration. *Journal of Supply Chain Management*, 52(3), 3-27. https://doi.org/10.1111/jscm.12106
- Fofana, F., Bazeley, P., & Regnault, A. (2020). Applying a mixed methods design to test saturation for qualitative data in health outcomes research. *PLoS ONE*, *15*(6), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0234898

- Fornaro, C. J., Sterin, K., & Struloeff, K. L. (2021). Qualitative data collection tools:

 Design, development, and applications by Felice D. Billups. *Current Issues in Comparative Education*, 23(1), 109–112.

 https://doi.org/10.52214/cice.v23i1.8144
- Freeman, N., Mittenthal, J., Keskin, B., & Melouk, S. (2018). Sourcing strategies for a capacitated firm subject to supply and demand uncertainty. *Omega*, 77, 127–142. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.omega.2017.06.004
- Friday, D., Ryan, S., Sridharan, R., & Collins, D. (2018). Collaborative risk management:

 A systematic literature review. *International Journal of Physical Distribution & Logistics Management*, 48(3), 231–253. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJPDLM-01-2017-0035
- Fritz, R. L., & Vandermause, R. (2018). Data Collection via In-depth email interviewing:

 Lessons from the field. *Qualitative Health Research*, 28(10), 1640–1649.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732316689067
- Ge, Z., Hu, Q., Goh, C.-H., & Zhao, R. (2021). Action-dependent commitment in vertical collaborations: The effect of demand-creating innovations in a supply chain.

 *Transportation Research Part E, 147. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tre.2020.102164
- Getele, G. K., Li, T., & Arrive, J. T. (2019). Risk management in the service supply chain: Evidence from the healthcare sector. *IEEE Engineering Management Review*, 47(4), 143–152. https://doi.org/10.1109/EMR.2019.2933512
- Ghadge, A., Dani, S., Ojha, R., & Caldwell, N. (2017). Using risk sharing contracts for

supply chain risk mitigation: A buyer-supplier power and dependence perspective. Computers & Industrial Engineering, 103, 262–270.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cie.2016.11.034

- Gibbs, L., Kealy, M., Willis, K., Green, J., Welch, N., & Daly, J. (2007). What have sampling and data collection got to do with good qualitative research? *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health*, 31(6), 540–544. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1753-6405.2007.00140.x
- Givens, L. M. (Ed.). (2008). The Sage encyclopedia of qualitative research methods (Vols 1 & 2). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Goldsby, T.J., Zinn, W., Closs, D.J., Daugherty, P., Stock, J.R, Fawcett, S.E., Waller,
 M. (2019). Reflections on 40 years of the Journal of Business Logistics: From the
 Editors. *Journal of Business Logistics*, 40 (1), 4-29.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/jbl.12208
- Gouda, S. K., & Saranga, H. (2018). Sustainable supply chains for supply chain sustainability: Impact of sustainability efforts on supply chain risk. *International Journal of Production Research*, *56*(17), 5820–5835.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/00207543.2018.1456695
- Govindan, K., & Chaudhuri, A. (2016). Interrelationships of risks faced by third party logistics service providers: A DEMATEL based approach. *Transportation**Research Part E, 90, 177–195. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tre.2015.11.010
- Graue, C. (2015). Qualitative data analysis. *International Journal of Sales, Retailing & Marketing*, 4(9), 5-14. https://www.ijsrm.com

- Greenbank, P. (2003). The role of values in educational research: The case for reflexivity.

 *British Educational Research Journal, 29, 791-801.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/0141192032000137303
- Greyson, D. (2018). Information triangulation: A complex and agentic everyday information practice. *Journal of the Association for Information Science & Technology*, 69(7), 869–878. https://doi.org/10.1002/asi.24012
- Grötsch, V., Blome, C., & Schleper, M. (2013). Antecedents of proactive supply chain risk management A contingency theory perspective. *International Journal of Production Research*, *51*(10), 2842–2867. https://doi.org/10.1080/00207543.2012.746796
- Gualandris, J., Klassen, R. D., Vachon, S., & Kalchschmidt M. (2015). "Sustainable evaluation and verification in supply chains: Aligning and leveraging accountability to stakeholders." *Journal of Operations Management 38*, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jom.2015.06.002
- Guarte, J., & Barrios, E. (2006). Estimation under purposive sampling. *Communications*in Statistics: Simulation & Computation, 35, 277-284.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/03610910600591610
- Guest, G., Namey, E., & Chen, M. (2020). A simple method to assess and report thematic saturation in qualitative research. *PLoS One*, *15*(5), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0232076
- Gupta, H., Kusi-Sarpong, S., & Rezaei, J. (2020). Barriers and overcoming strategies to supply chain sustainability innovation. *Resources, Conservation & Recycling*, 161. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resconrec.2020.104819

- Habermann, M., Blackhurst, J., & Metcalf, A. Y. (2015). Keep your friends close? Supply chain and disruption risk. *Decision Sciences*, 46, 491-526. https://doi.org/10.1111/deci.12138
- Hahn, G. J. (2020). Industry 4.0: a supply chain innovation perspective. *International Journal of Production Research*, 58(5), 1425–1441.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/00207543.2019.1641642
- Hamilton, A. B., & Finley, E. P. (2020). Reprint of: Qualitative methods in implementation research: An introduction. *Psychiatry Research*, 283. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2019.112629
- Haus-Reve, S., Fitjar, R. D., & Rodríguez-Pose, A. (2019). Does combining different types of collaboration always benefit firms? Collaboration, complementarity and product innovation in Norway. *Research Policy*, 48(6), 1476–1486.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2019.02.008
- Hennink, M., & Kaiser, B. N. (2022). Sample sizes for saturation in qualitative research:

 A systematic review of empirical tests. *Social Science & Medicine*, 292.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2021.114523
- Herington, J., & Tanona, S. (2020). The Social Risks of Science. *Hastings Center Report*, 50(6), 27–38. https://doi.org/10.1002/hast.1196
- Hernandez, D. F., & Haddud, A., (2018). Value creation via supply chain risk management in global fashion organizations outsourcing production to China. *Journal of Global Operations and Strategic Sourcing*, 11(2), 250–272.

 https://doi.org/10.1108/JGOSS-09-2017-0037

- Ho, W., Zheng, T., Yildiz, H., & Talluri, S. (2015). Supply chain risk management: A literature review. *International Journal of Production Research*, *53*(16), 5031-5069. https://doi.org/10.1080/00207543.2015.1030467
- Hopkins, J. L. (2021). An investigation into emerging industry 4.0 technologies as drivers of supply chain innovation in Australia. *Computers in Industry*, 125. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compind.2020.103323
- Hove-Sibanda, P., Motshidisi, M., & Igwe, P. A. (2021). Supply chain risks, technological and digital challenges facing grocery retailers in South Africa. *Journal of Enterprising Communities*, 15(2), 228–245.

 https://doi.org/10.1108/JEC-05-2020-0104
- Huffman, B. M., Hafferty, F. W., Bhagra, A., Leasure, E. L., Santivasi, W. L., & Sawatsky, A. P. (2021). Resident impression management within feedback conversations: A qualitative study. *Medical Education*, 55(2), 266–274.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/medu.14360
- Huy Truong Quang, & Yoshinori Hara. (2019). The push effect of risks on supply chain performance: Service-oriented firms. *Business Process Management Journal*, 25(7), 1734–1758. https://doi.org/10.1108/BPMJ-12-2017-0343
- Ingley, C., and Walt, N.V.D. (2008). Risk management, and board effectiveness.

 International Studies of Management and Organization, 38(3), 43–70.

 https://doi.org/10.2753/IMO0020-8825380302
- Ivanov, D. (2020). Predicting the impacts of epidemic outbreaks on global supply chains:

 A simulation-based analysis on the coronavirus outbreak (COVID-19/SARS-

- CoV-2) case. Transportation Research Part E: Logistics and Transportation Review, 136, 101922. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tre.2020.101922
- Jafarnejad, A., Momeni, M., Razavi, S. H., & Faridi, M. K. (2019). A dynamic supply chain resilience model for medical equipment's industry. *Journal of Modelling in Management*, 14(3), 816-840. https://doi.org/10.1108/JM2-11-2018-0195
- Jiang, Z.-Z., Zhao, J., Zhang, Y., & Yi, Z. (2022). Unraveling the cheap talk's informativeness of product quality in supply chains: A lying aversion perspective.
 Transportation Research Part E, 166. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tre.2022.102873
- Johnson, J. S. (2015). Broadening the application of mixed methods in sales research.

 Journal of Personal Selling and Sales Management, 35, 334-345.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/08853134.2015.1016953
- Johnson, J. S. (2015). Qualitative sales research: An exposition of grounded theory.

 **Journal of Personal Selling and Sales Management, 35, 262-273.*

 https://doi.org/10.1080/08853134.2014.954581
- Jonsen, K., Fendt, J., & Point, S. (2018). Convincing qualitative research: What constitutes persuasive writing?. *Organizational Research Methods*, 21(1), 30-67. https://doi.org/10.1177/1094428117706533
- Jordan, K. (2018). Validity, reliability, and the case for participant-centered research: reflections on a multi-platform social media study. *International Journal of Human-Computer Interaction*, *34*(10), 913–921. https://doi.org/10.1080/10447318.2018.1471570

- Jüttner, U., and S. Maklan. 2011. "Supply chain resilience in the global financial crisis:

 An empirical study." *Supply Chain Management: An International Journal*,

 16(4): 246–259. https://doi.org/10.1108/13598541111139062
- Kach, A., Busse, C., Azadegan, A., & Wagner, S. M. (2016). Maneuvering through hostile environments: How firms leverage product and process innovativeness. *Decision Sciences*, 5, 907. https://doi.org/10.1111/deci.12196
- Kähkönen, A.-K., Marttinen, K., Kontio, A., & Lintukangas, K. (2023). Practices and strategies for sustainability-related risk management in multi-tier supply chains.

 Journal of Purchasing and Supply Management, 29(3).

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pursup.2023.100848
- Kamalahmadi, M., & Parast, M.M. (2016a). A review of the literature on the principles of enterprise and supply chain resilience: Major findings and directions for future research. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 171(1), 116-133. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2015.10.023
- Kara, E., & Gök, R. (2022). Time-varying and quantile-based relationship among geopolitical risks, oil, and gold prices. *Ekonomika / Economics*, 101(2), 125–145. https://doi.org/10.15388/Ekon.2022.101.2.8
- Kauppi, K., Longoni, A., Caniato, F., & Kuula, M. (2016.). Managing country disruption risks and improving operational performance: Risk management along integrated supply chains. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 182, 484–495.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2016.10.006
- Kędzia, G. & Staniec, I. (2022). The impact of supplier involvement in product

- development on supply chain resilience: The mediating role of communication. *International Journal for Quality Research*, 16(4), 973–1000.

 https://doi.org/10.24874/IJQR16.04-01
- Kennedy, L. G., Kichler, E. J., Seabrook, J. A., Matthews, J. I., & Dworatzek, P. D. N. (2019). Validity and reliability of a food skills questionnaire. *Journal of Nutrition Education & Behavior*, 51(7), 857–864.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneb.2019.02.003
- Kilubi, I. (2016). Investigating current paradigms in supply chain risk management a bibliometric study. *Business Process Management Journal*, 22, 662-692. https://doi.org/10.1108/BPMJ-05-2015-0060
- Kilubi, I., & Rogers, H. (2018). Bridging the gap between supply chain risk management and strategic technology partnering capabilities: Insights from social capital theory. *Supply Chain Management*, 23(4), 278–292. https://doi.org/10.1108/SCM-02-2017-0091
- King, D. K., & Hayes, J. (2018). The effects of power relationships: knowledge, practice and a new form of regulatory capture. *Journal of Risk Research*, 21(9), 1104–1116. https://doi.org/10.1080/13669877.2017.1382560
- Köhler, T. (2016). From the editors: On writing up qualitative research in management learning and education. *Academy of Management Learning & Education*, *15*, 400-418. https://doi.org/10.5465/amle.2016.0275
- Klassen, R. D., & Vereecke, A. (2012). Social issues in supply chains: Capabilities link

responsibility, risk (opportunity), and performance. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 140(1), 103–115. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2012.01.021

- Krishnan, R., Yen, P., Agarwal, R., Arshinder, K., & Bajada, C. (2021). Collaborative innovation and sustainability in the food supply chain- evidence from farmer producer organisations. *Resources, Conservation & Recycling*, 168. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resconrec.2020.105253
- Kumar, M., Basu, P., & Avittathur, B. (2018). Pricing and sourcing strategies for competing retailers in supply chains under disruption risk. *European Journal of Operational Research*, 265(2), 533–543. https://doi:10.1016/j.ejor.2017.08.019
- Lee, E.B., Kim, J., & Lee, S.G. (2017). Predicting customer churn in mobile industry using data mining technology. *Industrial Management & Data Systems*, 117(1), 90-109. https://doi.org/10.1108/IMDS-12-2015-0509
- Lee, H. L., & Schmidt, G. (2017). Using Value Chains to Enhance

 Innovation. *Production & Operations Management*, 26(4), 617–632.

 https://doi.org/10.1111/poms.12665
- Liao, S.-H., Hu, D.-C., & Ding, L.-W. (2017). Assessing the influence of supply chain collaboration value innovation, supply chain capability and competitive advantage in Taiwan's networking communication industry. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 191, 143–153. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2017.06.001
- Li, G., Fan, H., Lee, P. K. C., & Cheng, T. C. E. (2015). Joint supply chain risk

- management: An agency and collaboration perspective. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 164, 83–94. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2015.02.021
- Li, Y., & Zobel, C. W. (2020). Exploring supply chain network resilience in the presence of the ripple effect. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 228. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2020.107693
- Li, Y., Zobel, C. W., Seref, O., & Chatfield, D. (2020). Network characteristics and supply chain resilience under conditions of risk propagation. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 223. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2019.107529
- Lindsey Hall, K. K., Qi, J. (Miracle), Richey, R. G., & Patil, R. K. (2022). Collaboration, feedback, and performance: Supply chain insights from service-dominant logic. *Journal of Business Research*, 146, 385–397. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2022.03.055
- Liu, W., Liang, Y., Wei, S., & Wu, P. (2021). The organizational collaboration framework of smart logistics ecological chain: a multi-case study in China. *Industrial Management & Data Systems*, 121(9), 2026–2047. https://doi.org/10.1108/IMDS-02-2020-0082
- Long, T., & Johnson, M. (2000). Rigour, reliability and validity in qualitative research.

 *Clinical Effectiveness in Nursing, 4(1), 30–37.

 https://doi.org/10.1054/cein.2000.0106
- Luo, J., Zhang, X., & Jiang, X. (2019). Multisources risk management in a supply chain under option contracts. *Mathematical Problems in Engineering*, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1155/2019/7482584
- Mackieson, P., Shlonsky, A., & Connolly, M. (2019). Increasing rigor and reducing bias in qualitative research: A document analysis of parliamentary debates using

- applied thematic analysis. *Qualitative Social Work: Research and Practice, 18*(6), 965–980. https://doi.org/10.1177/1473325018786996
- Manoj, H., & Urvashi, R. (2017). Collaborative practices with suppliers in Indian manufacturing multinationals. *Journal of Global Operations and Strategic Sourcing*, 10(2), 206-231. https://doi.org/10.1108/JGOSS-07-2016-0022
- Maramwidze-Merrison, E. (2016). Innovative methodologies in qualitative research:

 Social media window for accessing organisational elites for interviews. *Electronic Journal of Business Research Methods*, 14, 157-167. https://www.ejbrm.com/
- Mayer, I. (2015). Qualitative research with a focus on quantitative data analysis.

 *International Journal of Sales, Retail, and Marketing, 4(9), 53-67.

 https://www.ijsrm.com/IJSRM
- McKim, C. A. (2017). The Value of Mixed Methods Research: A mixed methods study.

 Journal of Mixed Methods Research, 11, 202-222.

 https://doi.org/101177/1558689815607096
- Mena, C., Melnyk, S. A., Baghersad, M., & Zobel, C. W. (2020). Sourcing Decisions under Conditions of Risk and Resilience: A Behavioral Study. *Decision Sciences*, 51(4), 985–1014. https://doi.org/10.1111/deci.12403
- Merzifonluoglu, Y. (2015). Risk averse supply portfolio selection with supply, demand and spot market volatility. *Omega 57*, 40 53. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.omega.2015.03.006
- Merzifonluoglu, Y. (2017). Integrated demand and procurement portfolio management

- with spot market volatility and option contracts. *European Journal of Operational Research* 258(1), 181 192. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejor.2016.08.052
- Metcalf, J. (2016). Big data analytics and revision of the common rule. *Communications* of the ACM, 59(7), 31-33. https://doi.org/10.1145/2935882
- Meyer, A., Niemann, W., Uys, G., & Beetge, D. (2019). An exploration of supply chain risk management in the South African third-party logistics industry. *Acta Commercii*, 19(1), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.4102/ac.v19i1.612
- Miao, W., Liu, J., & Wu, S. (2022). Embedded symbiosis: An institutional approach to government-business relationships in the Chinese internet industry. *Information, Communication & Society*, 25(16), 2447–2464. https://doi.org/10.1080/1369118X.2022.2128600
- Micheli, G. J. L., Mogre, R., & Perego, A. (2014). How to choose mitigation measures for supply chain risks. *International Journal of Production Research*, 52, 117-129. https://doi.org/10.1080/00207543.2013.828170
- Midgley, G., & Wilby, J. (2015). Learning across boundaries: Exploring the variety of systems theory and practice. *Systems Research and Behavioral Science*, 32(5), 509–513. https://doi.org/10.1002/sres.2357
- Mikene, S., Gaizauskaite, I., & Valaviciene, N. (2013). Qualitative interviewing: Fieldwork realities. *Socialinis Darbas*, *12*, 49-61. https://www.mruni.eu
- Miller, D. (2017). Disruptive texts: Case narratives as research inspirations. *Academy of Management Review*, 42(1), 154-164. https://doi.org/10.5465/amr.2015.0418
- Milovanovic, G. Milovanovic, S., Radisavljevic, G. (2017). Globalization: The key

- challenge of modern supply chains. *Ekonomika*, *63*(1), 31-40. https://doi.org/10.5937/ekonomika1701031M
- Mofokeng, T.M. & Chinomona, R., (2019). Supply chain partnership, supply chain collaboration and supply chain integration as the antecedents of supply chain performance. *South African Journal of Business Management*, *50*(1), e1–e10. https://doi.org/10.4102/sajbm.v50i1.193
- Molina-Azorin, J. F., Bergh, D. D., Corley, K. G., & Ketchen, D. J. (2017). Mixed methods in the organizational sciences. *Organizational Research Methods*, 20, 179-192. https://doi.org/10.1177/1094428116687026
- Mocke, K., Niemann, W. & Kotzé, T. (2016). The role of personal relationships between buyers and suppliers of third-party logistics services: A South African perspective. *Acta Commercii*, *16*(1), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.4102/ac.v16i1.367
- Moosavi, J., & Hosseini, S. (2021). Simulation-based assessment of supply chain resilience with consideration of recovery strategies in the COVID-19 pandemic context. *Computers & Industrial Engineering*, 160.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cie.2021.107593
- Morton, N. A., & Hu, Q. (2008). Implications of the fit between organizational structure and ERP: A structural contingency theory perspective. *International Journal of Information Management*, 28, 391-402.

 https://doi.org:10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2008.01.008
- Moser, A., & Korstjens, I. (2018). Series: Practical guidance to qualitative research. Part 3: Sampling, data collection and analysis. *The European Journal of General*

- Practice, 24(1), 9–18. https://doi.org/10.1080/13814788.2017.1375091
- Motulsky, S. L. (2021). Is member checking the gold standard of quality in qualitative research? *Qualitative Psychology*, 8(3), 389–406.

 https://doi.org/10.1037/qup0000215
- Myamba, B. M., & Nguni, W. S. (2023). Aligning the risk hedging strategy with supplier collaboration and manufacturing competitiveness: a resource-based and contingency approach. *International Journal of Productivity and Performance Management*, 72(6), 1740–1770. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJPPM-03-2021-0131
- Najaf, K., Dhiaf, M. M. M., Marashdeh, H., & Atayah, O. F. (2023). The social role of supply chain firms during the pandemic period. *International Journal of Quality & Reliability Management*, 40(5), 1343–1361. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJQRM-03-2022-0106
- Naidu, T., & Prose, N. (2018). Re-envisioning member checking and communicating results as accountability practice in qualitative research: A South African community-based organization example. *Forum: Qualitative Social Research*, 19(3), 783–797. https://doi.org/10.17169/fqs-19.3.3153
- Namdar, J., Li, X., Sawhney, R., & Pradhan, N. (2018). Supply chain resilience for single and multiple sourcing in the presence of disruption risks. *International Journal of Production Research*, *56*(6), 2339–2360.

 https://doi.org:10.1080/00207543.2017.1370149
- Nenonen, S., & Storbacka, K. (2020). Don't adapt, shape! Use the crisis to shape your minimum viable system And the wider market. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 88, 265–271. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2020.05.022

- Newman, P. A., Guta, A., & Black, T. (2021). Ethical Considerations for Qualitative Research Methods During the COVID-19 Pandemic and Other Emergency Situations: Navigating the Virtual Field. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 20, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1177/16094069211047823
- Nguyen, M.A.T., Lei, H., Vu, K. D., & Le, P. B. (2019). The role of cognitive proximity on supply chain collaboration for radical and incremental innovation: a study of a transition economy. *Journal of Business & Industrial Marketing*, *34*(3), 591–604. https://doi.org/10.1108/JBIM-07-2017-0163
- Nha Trang, N. T., Nguyen, T.-T., Pham, H. V., Anh Cao, T. T., Trinh Thi, T. H., & Shahreki, J. (2022). Impacts of collaborative partnership on the performance of cold supply chains of agriculture and foods: Literature review. *Sustainability* (2071-1050), 14(11), 6462. https://doi.org/10.3390/su14116462
- Ni, J., Zhao, J., & Chu, L. K. (2021). Supply contracting and process innovation in a dynamic supply chain with information asymmetry. *European Journal of Operational Research*, 288(2), 552–562. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejor.2020.06.008
- Nikookar, E., & Yanadori, Y. (2021). Preparing supply chain for the next disruption beyond COVID-19: Managerial antecedents of supply chain resilience. *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*, 42(1), 59–90. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJOPM-04-2021-0272
- Noble, H., & Smith, J. (2015). Issues of validity and reliability in qualitative research. *Evidence-Based Nursing*, 18, 34–35. https://doi.org/10.1136/eb-2015-102054
 Nooraie, V., Fathi, M., Narenji, M., Parast, M. M., Pardalos, P. M., & Stanfield, P. M.

- (2020). A multi-objective model for risk mitigating in supply chain design. *International Journal of Production Research*, *58*(5), 1338–1361.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/00207543.2019.1633024
- Olson, D. L. (2018). View of IJPR contributions to knowledge management in supply chains. *International Journal of Production Research*, *56*(1–2), 733–742. https://doi.org:10.1080/00207543.2017.1398427
- Oluwafemi, A., Xulu, S., Dlamini, N., Luthuli, M., Mhlongo, T., Herbst, C., Shahmanesh, M., & Seeley, J. (2021). Transcription as a key phase of data analysis in qualitative research: Experience from KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa. *Field Methods*, *33*(4), 417–423. https://doi.org/10.1177/1525822X21989482
- Orr, E. R., Ballantyne, M., Gonzalez, A., & Jack, S. M. (2020). Visual elicitation: Methods for enhancing the quality and depth of interview data in applied qualitative health research. *Advances in Nursing Science*, 43(3), 202–213. https://doi.org/10.1097/ANS.00000000000000321
- Ozdemir, D., Sharma, M., Dhir, A., & Daim, T. (2022). Supply chain resilience during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Technology in Society*, 68.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techsoc.2021.101847
- Paradis, E., O'Brien, B., Nimmon, L., Bandiera, G., & Martimianakis, M. A. T. (2016).

 Design: Selection of data collection methods. *Journal of Graduate Medical Education*, 8(2), 263–264. https://doi.org/10.4300/JGME-D-16-00098.1
- Park, K., Min, H., & Min, S. (2016). Inter-relationship among risk taking propensity,

supply chain security practices, and supply chain disruption occurrence. *Journal of Purchasing and Supply Management*, 22(2), 120–130. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pursup.2015.12.001

- Park, J., & Park, M. (2016). Qualitative versus quantitative research methods: Discovery or justification? *Journal of Marketing Thought*, *3*(1), 1-7. https://doi.org/10.15577/jmt.2016.03.01.1
- Park, J., Lee, J., Lee, H., Truex, D. (2012). Exploring the impact of communication effectiveness on service quality, trust and relationship commitment in IT services.

 *International Journal of Information Management, 32 (5), pp. 459-468.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2012.02.005
- Patton, M.Q. (2015). Qualitative Research and Evaluation Methods (4th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA:Sage.
- Peck, H. (2005). Drivers of supply chain vulnerability: An integrated framework

 International Journal of Physical Distribution & Logistics Management, 35(4),

 210-232. https://doi.org/10.1108/09600030510599904
- Peng, Q., Wang, C., & Xu, L. (2020). Emission abatement and procurement strategies in a low-carbon supply chain with option contracts under stochastic demand. *Computers & Industrial Engineering*, 144. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cie.2020.106502
- Pertheban, T., & Arokiasamy, L. (2019). The relationship between purchasing and

- operational improvement; Supply risk management perspective A study on SMEs (manufacturing sector). *Global Business & Management Research*, 11(1), 571–582. https://gbmrjournal.com/
- Prashar, A., & Aggarwal, S. (2020). Modeling enablers of supply chain quality risk management: a grey-DEMATEL approach. *TQM Journal*, *32*(5), 1059–1076. https://doi.org/10.1108/TQM-05-2019-0132
- Quach, S., Thaichon, P., & Hewege, C. (2020). Triadic relationship between customers, service providers and government in a highly regulated industry. *Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services*, 55.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jretconser.2020.102148
- Quintao, C., Andrade, P., & Almeida, F. (2020). How to improve the validity and reliability of a case study approach. *Journal of Interdisciplinary Studies in Education*, 9(2), 264
- Råbu, M., McLeod, J., Tønnessen, T. B., & Moltu, C. (2022). Creating art from research: a theatre play based on research interviews with senior therapists. *British Journal of Guidance & Counselling*, 50(1), 82–94.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/03069885.2020.1755419
- Rajagopal, V., Venkatesan, S.P., & Goh, M. (2017). Decision-making models for supply chain risk mitigation. *A Review of Computers & Industrial Engineering*, 113, 46-682. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cie.2017.09.043
- Rajesh, R. (2017). Technological capabilities and supply chain resilience of firms: A

relational analysis using Total Interpretive Structural Modeling (TISM). *Technological Forecasting and Social Change, 118*, 161–169. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2017.02.017

- Rajesh, R. (2019). Social and environmental risk management in resilient supply chains:

 A periodical study by the Grey-Verhulst model. *International Journal of Production Research*, *57*(11), 3748–3765.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/00207543.2019.1566656
- Rao, S. and Goldsby, T.J. (2009) Supply chain risks: A review and typology.

 *International Journal of Logistics Management., 20(1), 97-123.

 https://doi.org/10.1108/09574090910954864
- Renz, S. M., Carrington, J. M., & Badger, T. A. (2018). Two strategies for qualitative content analysis: An intramethod approach to triangulation. *Qualitative Health Research*, 28(5), 824–831. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732317753586
- Revilla, E. and Saenz, M. J. (2017). The impact of risk management on the frequency of supply chain disruptions: A configurational approach. *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*, *37*(5), 557-576.

 https://doi.org/10.1108/IJOPM-03-2016-0129
- Riglietti, G., Avatefipour, A., & Trucco, P. (2021). The impact of business continuity management on the components of supply chain resilience: A quantitative analysis. *Journal of Business Continuity & Emergency Planning, 15*(2), 182–195.
- Rogers, B., & Rodrigo, P. (2015). An exploratory study of factors influencing make-or-

- buy of sales activities: The perceptions of senior sales managers. *Strategic Outsourcing: An International Journal*, 8(2/3), 229-261. https://doi.org/10.1108/SO-07-2015-0016
- Romero-Silva, R., Santos, J., & Hurtado, M. (2018). A note on defining organisational systems for contingency theory in OM. *Production Planning & Control*, 29(16), 1343–1348. https://doi.org/10.1080/09537287.2018.1535146
- Safari, A., & Thilenius, P. (2013). Alleviating uncertainty through trust: A narrative approach to consumers' foreign online purchasing behaviour. *Journal of Customer Behaviour*, 12, 211-226. https://doi.org/10.1362/147539213X13832198548418
- Schoonhoven, C. B. (1981). Problems with contingency theory: Testing assumptions hidden within the language of contingency "theory". *Administrative Science Quarterly* 26(3), 349–377. https://doi.org/10.2307/2392512
- Schoenung, B. & Dikova, D. (2016). Reflections on organizational team diversity research: In search of a logical support to an assumption. *Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*, 35(3), 221-231. https://doi.org/10.1108/EDI-11-2015-0095
- Seuring, S., & Müller, M. (2008). Core issues in sustainable supply chain management a Delphi study. *Business Strategy & the Environment (John Wiley & Sons, Inc)*, 17(8), 455–466. https://doi.org/10.1002/bse.607
- Shahbaz, M.S., Rasi, R.Z.R.M., & Ahmad, M.D.F.B. (2019). A novel classification of supply chain risks: Scale development and validation. *Journal of Industrial Engineering and Management*, 12(1), 201-218. https://doi.org/10.3926/jiem.2792
- Shekarian, M., & Mellat Parast, M. (2021). An Integrative approach to supply chain disruption risk and resilience management: A literature review. *International*

- Journal of Logistics: Research & Applications, 24(5), 427–455. https://doi.org/10.1080/13675567.2020.1763935
- Shen, B., Xu, X., Chan, H. L., & Choi, T.-M. (2021). Collaborative innovation in supply chain systems: Value creation and leadership structure. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 235. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2021.108068
- Shin, N., Park, S.H., & Park, S., (2019). Partnership-based supply chain collaboration:

 Impact on commitment, innovation, and firm performance. *Sustainability*, 11(2),

 449. https://doi.org/10.3390/su11020449
- Siagian, H., Tarigan, Z. J. H., & Han, T. H. (2018). The effect of top management involvement on supply chain risk management through buyer-supplier relationship. *Jurnal Teknik Industri*, 20(2), 105–111. https://doi.org/10.9744/jti.20.2.105-112
- Sim, J., Saunders, B., Waterfield, J., & Kingstone, T. (2018). Can sample size in qualitative research be determined a priori? *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 21(5), 619–634. https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2018.1454643
- Siska, L. (2018). How strategic priorities are reflected in features of strategic performance measurement system? *Engineering Economics*, 29(5), 591–600. https://doi.org/10.5755/j01.ee.29.5.17463
- Slettebø, T. (2021). Participant validation: Exploring a contested tool in qualitative research. *Qualitative Social Work*, 20(5), 1223–1238. https://doi.org/10.1177/1473325020968189
- Smith, J. S., Jayaram, J., Ponsignon, F., & Wolter, J. S. (2019). Service recovery system

- antecedents: A contingency theory investigation. *Journal of Service Management*, 30(2), 276–300. https://doi.org/10.1108/JOSM-01-2018-0026
- Snyder, L.V., Atan, Z., Peng, P., Rong, Y., Schmitt, A.J., & Sinsoysal, B. (2016). OR/MS models for supply chain disruptions: A review. *IIE Trans*, 48(2), 89-109. https://doi.org/10.1080/0740817X.2015.1067735
- Song, J., Chutani, A., Dolgui, A., & Liang, L. (2021). Dynamic innovation and pricing decisions in a supply-Chain. *Omega*, 103. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.omega.2021.102423
- Spence, M., Stancu, V., Elliott, C.T. & Dean, M. (2018). Exploring consumer purchase intentions towards traceable minced beef and beef steak using the theory of planned behavior. *Food Control*, *91*, 138–147. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodcont.2018.03.035
- Spiers, J., Morse, J. M., Olson, K., Mayan, M., & Barrett, M. (2018).

 Reflection/Commentary on a Past Article: "Verification strategies for establishing reliability and validity in qualitative research." *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 17(1). https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406918788237
- Spieske, A., & Birkel, H. (2021). Improving supply chain resilience through industry 4.0:

 A systematic literature review under the impressions of the COVID-19

 pandemic. *Computers & Industrial Engineering*, 158.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cie.2021.107452
- Talluri, S., Kull, T. J., Yildiz, H., & Yoon, J. (2013). Assessing the efficiency of risk mitigation strategies in supply chains. *Journal of Business Logistics*, *34*, 253-269. https://doi.org/10.1111/jbl.12025
- Tang, C. (2006). Perspectives in supply chain risk management. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 103(2), 451-488.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2005.12.006

- Tannous, K. A., & Seongno Y. (2018). Summarizing risk, sustainability and collaboration in global supply chain management. *International Journal of Supply & Operations Management*, 5(2), 192–196. https://www.ijsom.com/
- Taylor, K. M., & Vachon, S. (2018). "Empirical research on sustainable supply chains: IJPR's contribution and research avenues." *International Journal of Production Research* 56, 1-2, 950–959. https://doi.org/10.1080/00207543.2017.1402139
- Teece, D. J. (2018). Profiting from innovation in the digital economy: Enabling technologies, standards, and licensing models in the wireless world. *Research Policy*, 47(8), 1367–1387. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2017.01.015
- Theofanidis, D., & Fountouki, A. (2018). Limitations and Delimitations in the Research Process. *Perioperative Nursing*, 7(3), 155–163. https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.2552022
- Thiruvattal, E. (2017). Impact of value co-creation on logistics customers' loyalty.

 **Journal of Global Operations and Strategic Sourcing, 10(3), 334-361.

 https://doi.org/10.1108/JGOSS-11-2016-0034
- Thun, J, & Hoenig, D. (2011). An empirical analysis of supply chain risk management in the German automotive industry. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 131(1), 242-249. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2009.10.010
- Trkman, P., Oliveira, M. P. V. D., & McCormack, K. (2016). Value-oriented supply chain risk management: You get what you expect. *Industrial Management and Data Systems*, 116, 1061-1083. https://doi.org/10.1108/IMDS-09-2015-0368
- Truong Quang, H., & Hara, Y. (2018). Risks and performance in supply chain: The push effect. *International Journal of Production Research*, *56*(4), 1369–1388.

https://doi.org/10.1080/00207543.2017.1363429

- Tunarosa, A., & Glynn, M. A. (2017). Strategies of Integration in Mixed Methods Research: Insights Using Relational Algorithms. *Organizational Research Methods*, 20(2), 224–242. https://doi.org/10.1177/1094428116637197
- Um, J., & Han, N. (2021). Understanding the relationships between global supply chain risk and supply chain resilience: The role of mitigating strategies. Supply Chain Management, 26(2), 240–255. https://doi.org/10.1108/SCM-06-2020-0248
- Uys, G., Meyer, A., & Niemann, W. (2019). Taxonomies of trust in supply chain risk management in the South African third party logistics industry. *Acta Commercii*, 19(1), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.4102/ac.v19i1.792
- Vanalle, R. M., Lucato, W. C., Ganga, G. M. D., & Alves Filho, A. G. (2020). Risk management in the automotive supply chain: an exploratory study in Brazil. *International Journal of Production Research*, 58(3), 783–799. https://doi.org/10.1080/00207543.2019.1600762
- VanScoy, A., & Evenstad, S. B. (2015). Interpretative phenomenological analysis for LIS research. *Records Management Journal*, 71, 338-37. https://doi.org/10.1108/JD-09-2013-0118
- Varpio, L., Ajjawi, R., Monrouxe, L. V., O'Brien, B. C., & Rees, C. E. (2017). Shedding the cobra effect: Problematising thematic emergence, triangulation, saturation and member checking. *Medical Education*, *51*(1), 40–50.

 https://doi.org/10.1111/medu.13124
- Vilko, J., Ritala, P. & Edelmann, J. (2014). On uncertainty in supply chain risk

- management. The *International Journal of Logistics Management*, 25(1), 3–19. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJLM-10-2012-0126
- Vilko, J., Ritala, P., & Hallikas, J. (2019). Risk management abilities in multimodal maritime supply chains: Visibility and control perspectives. *Accident Analysis and Prevention*, 123, 469–481. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aap.2016.11.010
- Wadho, W., & Chaudhry, A. (2018). Innovation and firm performance in developing countries: The case of Pakistani textile and apparel manufacturers. *Research Policy*, 47(7), 1283–1294. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2018.04.007
- Wan Ahmad, W. N. K., Rezaei, J., Tavasszy, L. A., & de Brito, M. P. (2016).
 Commitment to and preparedness for sustainable supply chain management in the oil and gas industry. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 180, 202–213.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2016.04.056
- Wandfluh, M., Hofmann, E. & Schoensleben, P. (2016). Financing buyer–supplier dyads:

 An empirical analysis on financial collaboration in the supply chain. *International Journal of Logistics Research and Applications*, 19(3), 200–17.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/13675567.2015.1065803
- Wang, W., Xue, K., & Sun X. (2017). Cost sharing in the prevention of supply chain disruption. *Mathematical Problems in Engineering*, 1-8. https://doi.org/1155/2017/7843465
- Wang, C., & Hu, Q. (2020). Knowledge sharing in supply chain networks: Effects of collaborative innovation activities and capability on innovation performance.

 Technovation, 94–95. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.technovation.2017.12.002

- Waqas, U., Rahman, A.B.A., Ismail, N. W., Basha, N.K., & Umair, S. (2019).
 Conceptualising the moderating role of knowledge management within supply chain risks and supply chain risk management. Forest and Society, 2, 209.
 https://doi.org/10.24259/fs.v3i2.6426
- Wheeldon. J., (2018). Reflection/commentary on a past article: "Framing experience: concept maps, mind maps, and data collection in qualitative research."

 International Journal of Qualitative Methods, 17.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406918790673
- Wieland, A., Bals, L., Mol, M. J., & Handfield, R. B. (2020). Overcoming blind spots in global sourcing research: Exploiting the cross-sections between supply chain management and international business. *Journal of International Management*, 26(1). https://doi.org/:10.1016/j.intman.2019.100709
- Wijewickrama, M. K. C. S., Chileshe, N., Rameezdeen, R., & Ochoa, J. J. (2022).

 Information-centric influence strategies for quality assurance in reverse logistics supply chains: External stakeholders' perspective. *Benchmarking: An International Journal*, 29(6), 1857–1888. https://doi.org/10.1108/BIJ-05-2021-0276
- Williams, P., Ashill, N., & Naumann, E. (2017). Toward a contingency theory of CRM adoption. *Journal of Strategic Marketing*, 25(5/6), 454–474. https://doi.org/:doi:10.1080/0965254X.2016.1149211
- Willis, D. G., Sullivan-Bolyai, S., Knafl, K., & Cohen, M. Z. (2016). Distinguishing

- features and similarities between descriptive phenomenological and qualitative description research. *Western Journal of Nursing Research*, *38*, 1185-1204. https://doi.org/10.1177/0193945916645499
- Wong, D. T. W., & Ngai, E. W. T. (2019). Critical review of supply chain innovation research (1999–2016). Industrial Marketing *Management*, 82, 158–187. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2019.01.017
- Wong, S., & Cooper, P. (2016). Reliability and validity of the explanatory sequential design of mixed methods adopted to explore the influences on online learning in Hong Kong bilingual cyber higher education. *International Journal of Cyber Society & Education*, 9(2), 45–66. https://doi.org/10.7903/ijcse.1475
- Wu, I.-L., Chuang, C.-H. & Hsu, C.-H. (2014). Information sharing and collaborative behaviors in enabling supply chain performance: A social exchange perspective. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 148, 122–132. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2013.09.016
- Xu, G., Weng, X., Dan, B., & Duan, H., (2023). Hedging strategies of supply chain under risk aversion. *Economic Computation & Economic Cybernetics Studies & Research*, 57(1), 73–88. https://doi.org/10.24818/18423264/57.1.23.05
- Yan, S., & Ji, X. (2020). Supply chain network design under the risk of uncertain disruptions. *International Journal of Production Research*, *58*(6), 1724–1740 https://doi.org/10.1080/00207543.2019.1696999
- Yang, J. (2013). Harnessing value in knowledge management for performance in buyer-

- supplier collaboration. *International Journal of Production Research*, *51*(7), 1984–1991. https://doi.org/10.1080/00207543.2012.701774
- Yeong, M. L., Ismail, R., Ismail, N. H., & Hamzah, M. I. (2018). Interview protocol refinement: Fine-tuning qualitative research interview questions for multi-racial populations in Malaysia. *Qualitative Report*, 23(11), 2700–2713.
- Yin, R. K. (2018). *Case study research and applications*: Design and methods (6th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Yu, L., Li, H., Wang, Z., & Duan, Y. (2019). Technology imports and self-innovation in the context of innovation quality. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 214, 44–52. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2018.11.023
- Yuan Ling Marjorie, K., Li Cheng Anna, T., & Shorey, S. (2021). Perceptions of Distressed Fathers in the Early Postpartum Period: A Descriptive Qualitative Study. *Journal of Family Issues*, 42(10), 2397–2417. https://doi.org/10.1177/0192513X20980042
- Zeng, B., & Yen, B. P.-C. (2017). Rethinking the role of partnerships in global supply chains: A risk-based perspective. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 185, 52–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2016.12.004
- Zhu, Q., Krikke, H., & Caniels, M. C. J. (2017). Integrated supply chain risk management: A systematic review. *International Journal of Logistics Management*, 28(4), 1123–1141. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJLM-09-2016-0206
- Zimmermann, R., Ferreira, L. M. D. F., & Moreira, A. C. (2020). How supply chain

- strategies moderate the relationship between innovation capabilities and business performance. *Journal of Purchasing and Supply Management*, 26(5). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pursup.2020.100658
- Zimon, D., & Madzík, P. (2020). Standardized management systems and risk management in the supply chain. *International Journal of Quality & Reliability Management*, 37(2), 305–327. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJQRM-04-2019-0121
- Zyphur, M., & Pierides, D. (2017). Is quantitative research ethical? Tools for ethically practicing, evaluating, and using quantitative research. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *143*(1), 1-16. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-017-3549-8

Appendix: Interview Protocol

The purpose of this interview is to explore strategies that Jamaican oil supply chain managers use to manage risks effectively in the oil supply chain. I will use the following guidelines to conduct the interview:

I will introduce myself to the participants.

- I will provide an overview of the interview process and the purpose of the study.
- 2. I will inform the participants that the information gathered will be kept confidential and discuss the recording of the interview.
- 3. I will advise the participants of the right to stop the interview at any time without penalty.
- 4. I will end the interview by thanking the participants for their participation and thereafter conduct member checking.

Interview Questions

- 1. What are the primary supply chain risks faced by your company?
- 2. Based upon your experiences, what are the drivers of the risks that exist in your company's supply chain?
- 3. Based upon your experiences, how have the risks you described affected your company's operations and performance?
- 4. What strategies do you employ to address these risks?
- 5. What challenges have you encountered in the implementation of the risk mitigation strategies?

- 6. How did your organization address the key challenges to implement the strategies for the mitigation of supply chain risks?
- 7. Based upon your experiences, how do the strategies that you employ mitigate these supply chain risks.
- 8. What additional information, if any, would you like to share on the strategies that you use to mitigate risks in the supply and distribution process of your organization's supply chain?